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Accountable Officer’s Declaration

5 October 2016 

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 and the Victorian 
Inspectorate Act 2011, I am pleased to present the Victorian Inspectorate’s  
Annual Report for the year ending 30 June 2016.

Robin Brett QC
Inspector
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Throughout the 2015–16 period the 
Victorian Inspectorate (VI) has commenced 
several projects and initiatives and 
undergone a period of expansion.

• The VI’s monitoring program in relation to the 
IBAC was greatly expanded

• A new Complaints Management System (CMS) 
has been procured, enabling the VI to meet 
contemporary complaints management practices 
and improve its reporting capabilities 

• Four new staff have been recruited, with further 
recruitment expected in the next reporting period

The VI has engaged with both the Accountability and 
Oversight (A&O) and the Independent Broad-based 
Anti-Corruption (IBAC) Parliamentary Committees.  
On 19 September 2015 the VI hosted the A&O 
Committee and provided a presentation on the VI’s 
operations. The VI also contributed to the Committee’s 
Report into Victorian Oversight Agencies 2014–15 
and provided a response in relation to their single 
recommendation. The Inspector appeared before a 
public hearing on 14 December 2015 in relation to the 
IBAC Committee’s Inquiry into Strengthening Victoria’s 
Key Anti-corruption Agencies. The Inspector also 
provided a written response to further enquiries in  

this matter and a submission to the IBAC Committee  
in relation to their Review of Protected Disclosures.  
This review remains ongoing. 

The VI provided a comprehensive submission to 
the review being conducted by the Department of 
Premier and Cabinet (DPC) to build on the reforms 
enacted in the Integrity and Accountability Legislation 
Amendment (A Stronger System) Act 2016 (Integrity 
and Accountability Act). The VI’s submission responded 
to a range of questions raised by the Government’s 
discussion papers in relation to each of the Independent 
Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC), 
Victorian Ombudsman and the Victorian Auditor-
General’s Office (VAGO). The VI provided comment on 
matters including the IBAC’s use of public examinations, 
the Victorian Ombudsman’s role in relation to protected 
disclosures and investigations of corrupt conduct, as well 
as powers of the Auditor-General. The VI will continue 
to monitor developments in the integrity reform process 
and, where appropriate, engage with government to 
achieve the best outcome for the integrity system and 
the public. 

Section 1: Year in Review
2015 – 16 Highlights

92
Enquiries 
received

67
Complaints 
received and 
assessed

2
Own motion 
investigations 
initiated

1
Protected 
disclosure 
complaint 
investigated

1,088
Notifications 
received



The VI has gained new powers following the Integrity 
and Accountability Act coming into effect on 1 July 2016. 
This Act made two amendments to the VI’s governing 
legislation to provide for full and free access to IBAC 
records and information in the ordinary course of 
monitoring and to conduct preliminary inquiries.  
The Act broadens the jurisdiction of the IBAC, Victorian 
Ombudsman and VAGO, and as a consequence the 
scope of the VI’s jurisdiction is also increased. The VI 
anticipates that these changes will result in an increase 
in the number of matters reported and complaints 
received in the coming year, which will be reported 
on in the next period. 

The VI’s functions may also be extended in the 
next year following the introduction of the Freedom 
of Information Amendment (Office of the Victorian 
Information Commissioner) Bill 2016 to Parliament on 
22 June 2016. If this Bill is passed, the VI’s functions 
will be extended to oversee the Office of the Victorian 
Information Commissioner (OVIC) in relation to the 
exercise of coercive powers, compliance with procedural 
fairness requirements and receiving complaints in 
relation to conduct of the officers of the OVIC. The VI 
will be empowered to investigate, make assessments  
and make recommendations consistent with the 
performance of its functions with respect to other 
integrity bodies.

Following a productive year for the VI, including the 
development of internal initiatives and the expansion 
of the VI’s jurisdiction and powers, it is expected that 
2016–17 will be one of much activity and advancement. 
The VI has identified various matters for priority in the 
coming year.
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2015–16 was a year of 
great activity for the VI.

Two areas which showed a great 
increase in activity were investigations, 
three of which were commenced and 
one completed, and the monitoring 
of the IBAC, where the year saw the 
VI complete a comprehensive review 
of all areas of the IBAC’s activities.  

At the same time, the number of 
recordings of coercive examinations 
received by the VI for review also 
increased greatly, and the number 
of complaints received was also 
up on previous years. 

The result was a very significant 
increase in workload of the VI. 
To cope with the additional workload 
four new positions were filled, and 
a further two (at least) will be filled 
in the near future.

The Compliance section of the VI 
continued its valuable work. The 
scope of its operations remained 
the same as previously, but the 
personnel were entirely replaced,  
as one previous member left the 
office and another was transferred  
to a different role within the VI.

I welcome the amendments made 
to the Victorian Inspectorate Act 
2011 (VI Act) by the Integrity and 
Accountability Act, which came 
into effect on 1 July 2016. These 
amendments significantly enhance 
the VI’s ability to carry out its 
monitoring functions effectively. 
They also make explicit the power 
of the VI to carry out preliminary 
enquiries before determining 
whether or not to investigate  
a complaint.

Bills currently before the Parliament 
in relation to the OVIC and the 
proposed Judicial Commission  
will give the VI additional functions. 
The functions proposed in relation 
to the OVIC have the potential 
to increase the VI’s workload 
significantly once more.

2016–17 will be another full 
year. The VI’s comprehensive 
consideration of the IBAC resulted 
in the identification of a number of 
areas that will be reviewed by the 
VI. There is also planned monitoring 
work in relation to the Ombudsman’s 
office and the Chief Examiner, and to 
a lesser extent the Auditor-General’s 
office. I am also looking forward to 
contributing to the Government’s 
continuing review of the integrity 
legislation.

Message from the Inspector
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Manner of Establishment  
and relevant Ministers

The VI was established by the VI 
Act. Robin Brett QC was appointed 
as the Inspector constituting the 
VI with effect from 1 January 2013; 
his appointment is for a term of five 
years expiring on 31 December 2017.  
The VI commenced operations on 10 
February 2013.

The VI is an independent body not 
subject to direction or control by the 
executive government. The Inspector 
is an independent officer of the 
Parliament.

Vision, Purpose and Values

Our vision is to provide independent 
assurance to Parliament that 
the integrity, accountability and 
investigatory bodies of the State act 
legally and with propriety in carrying 
out their duties and functions and 
in particular in exercising coercive 
powers.

Our purpose is to assist the 
Parliament, and in particular  
the IBAC Committee and the 
Accountability and Oversight (A&O) 
Committee of the Parliament, to 
oversee the principal integrity 
agencies in Victoria. 

The VI is responsible for the 
oversight of IBAC to ensure that  
it carries out its functions under  
the Independent Broad-based 
Anti-Corruption Act 2011 (IBAC Act) 
lawfully and properly. The VI has 
specific oversight responsibilities 
in relation to the Victorian 
Ombudsman’s office and VAGO, 
as well as in respect of the Chief 
Examiner and Examiners under the 
Major Crime (Investigative Powers) 
Act 2004 (MCIP Act). 

A particular focus of the VI’s 
purpose is oversight of the use of 
coercive powers by the IBAC, the 
Ombudsman’s office, the Chief 
Examiner’s office and VAGO. 

About the Victorian Inspectorate

Accountability

Professionalism

Commitment

Integrity

Respect

Impartiality
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The VI has a role monitoring 
compliance by the Public Interest 
Monitor (PIM) with the requirements 
of the Public Interest Monitor Act 
2011 (PIM Act). It also has a role 
monitoring compliance by agencies 
using surveillance devices and 
engaging in telephone interceptions 
and controlled operations with the 
regulatory requirements applying  
to those agencies.

Our values are:
• Integrity: We are honest, fair, 

independent and transparent  
in achieving our purpose.

• Impartiality: We make decisions 
and provide advice on merit and 
without bias, caprice, favouritism 
or self-interest, acting fairly 
by objectively considering all 
relevant facts and applying 
proper criteria.

• Accountability: We work to 
clear objectives in a transparent 
manner, accepting responsibility 
for decisions and actions, seeking 
to achieve best use of resources.

• Professionalism: We strive 
towards excellence in our work 
and we support each other to 
improve continuously. 

• Commitment: We utilise our 
skills and expertise to work hard 
together to achieve our purpose 
and we demonstrate that 
commitment in our engagement 
with other integrity agencies and 
the community we serve. 

• Respect: We encourage each 
other’s skills and contributions 
and actively promote a culture 
of accepting difference and 
working cooperatively. We also 
strive to promote co-operation in 
our relations with other integrity 
agencies. 

Relationship with the 
Parliament and other 
integrity agencies 

The strength of the Integrity system 
in Victoria is founded on the 
accountability each of those bodies 
has to Parliament. Those bodies 
have important investigative powers 
which significantly impact on the 
well-established rights of Victorian 
citizens. The VI has a central role 
in assisting the Parliament to 
ensure that a proper balance is 
maintained between the exercise of 
those investigative powers and the 
protection of the rights of Victorians, 
complementing the role of the IBAC 
Parliamentary Committee and the 
A&O Parliamentary Committee. The 
VI does this without interfering in 
the operational business of those 
bodies. This central role of the VI is 
particularly evident with respect to 
the IBAC. The VI acts, in effect, as 
the eyes and ears of the Parliament.

Objectives, functions, 
powers and duties

Section 11 of the VI Act, section 56 
of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 
(PD Act) and section 51 of the MCIP 
Act set out the functions of the VI, 
which differ in relation to each of the 
agencies it oversees. 

Section 12 of the VI Act provides 
that the VI has power to do all things 
that are necessary or convenient to 
be done for or in connection with, 
or as incidental to, the achievement 
of the objects of the VI Act and 
the performance of its duties and 
functions.

Section 12A of the VI Act, which 
was introduced by the Integrity and 
Accountability Act on 1 July 2016, 
establishes specific powers  
in relation to the IBAC.

Section 13 of the VI Act sets  
out specific powers in relation  
to the PIM. 

• With respect to the IBAC,  
the VI monitors its compliance 
with the IBAC Act and other 
laws, oversees its performance 
of its functions under the PD 
Act, assesses the legality and 
propriety of its policies and 
procedures and monitors the 
IBAC’s interaction with other 
integrity bodies. The VI receives 
and may investigate complaints 
against the IBAC. The VI may 
also investigate aspects of 
the IBAC’s activities of its 
own motion in carrying out its 
oversight functions. The VI may 
make recommendations to the 
IBAC and may make reports 
to the Parliament; the VI may 
also make recommendations 
to the Chief Commissioner of 
Police and certain other bodies 
about further investigatory or 
enforcement action.

 
 The IBAC also plays the leading 

role under the protected 
disclosure legislation, as the 
clearing-house for all assessable 
disclosures. A function of the VI 
is to oversee the performance by 
the IBAC of its functions under 
the PD Act.

• In relation to the Ombudsman 
and Ombudsman officers,  
the VI monitors its exercise 
of coercive powers and its 
compliance with procedural 
fairness requirements. The VI 
receives and may investigate 
complaints about the 
Ombudsman Officers, and  
may also investigate matters  
of its own motion. The VI may 
make recommendations and 
reports about the Ombudsman, 
and may make recommendations 
to the Chief Commissioner of 
Police and certain other bodies 
about further investigatory or 
enforcement action.
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• The Chief Examiner (and 
Examiners) occupy a unique 
position between the Supreme 
Court and Victoria Police. Under 
the MCIP Act, Victoria Police may 
apply to the Supreme Court for 
a coercive powers order (CPO) in 
connection with the investigation 
of an organised crime offence. 
If granted, the CPO authorises 
the Chief Examiner to issue 
summonses requiring persons 
to attend and answer questions 
and produce documents and 
things for the purposes of the 
investigation. The functions of 
the VI are to monitor compliance 
with the MCIP Act, assess the 
relevance of any requirement to 
produce documents or things 
and of any questions asked 
in a coercive examination, 
assess the effectiveness and 
appropriateness of policies and 
procedures of the Chief Examiner 
relating to the legality and 
propriety of the Chief Examiner’s 
activities, and make reports and 
recommendations accordingly. 
The VI may also receive 
complaints about the Chief 
Examiner’s exercise of coercive 
powers. 

• The VI has a very limited range 
of functions in relation to the 
Auditor-General and the VAGO. 
The Auditor-General has power 
to issue a summons requiring the 
production of documents and 
things in certain circumstances, 
and a function of the VI is to 
monitor the use of that power; 
but the power has not been used 
since the VI came into existence.  
The VI may also receive a very 
limited range of complaints about 
VAGO, and monitors VAGO’s 
compliance with a small number 
of legislative requirements.

• The Public Interest Monitors 
(PIMs) represent the public 
interest on a range of applications 
to courts for coercive powers 
orders, warrants authorising 
the use of telecommunications 
interceptions or surveillance 
devices and similar orders and 
warrants. Very strict regulations 
govern the PIMs’ receipt and 
disposal of material relating to 
such applications, which often 
includes information that is highly 
sensitive and/or dangerous.  
The VI monitors the PIMs’ records 
relating to compliance with those 
regulatory requirements.

• The VI also monitors compliance 
with regulatory requirements  
by Victoria Police, the IBAC,  
the Game Management 
Authority (GMA), the 
Department of Economic 
Development, Jobs, Transport 
and Resources (DEDJTR)  
and the Department of 
Environment, Land, Water,  
and Planning (DELWP), all of 
which may in certain circumstances 
use covert powers such as 
telecommunication interception, 
surveillance devices and 
controlled operations.
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Complaints

VI’s jurisdiction
The VI has power to receive and investigate certain 
complaints made to it about 1 – 
• the IBAC or the IBAC personnel, in regard to 

their conduct in respect of the performance or 
exercise, failure to perform or exercise or purported 
performance or purported exercise of their duties, 
functions or powers in relation to any matter; 

• Victorian Ombudsman officers, in regard to 
their conduct in respect to exercise or purported 
exercise of coercive powers in relation to any 
matter, or compliance with procedural fairness 
requirements in the performance of functions under 
the Ombudsman Act 1973 (Ombudsman Act) or 
any other Act, including in the conduct of enquiries 
and investigations and the making of reports and 
recommendations under the Ombudsman Act or  
any other Act;

• the Chief Examiner or Examiners  in regard to their 
conduct in respect of the exercise or purported 
exercise of coercive powers in relation to any matter 
or compliance with the MCIP Act; and

1 Section 43 of the VI Act.

• VAGO officers, in regard to their conduct in respect 
of the exercise or purported exercise of coercive 
powers in relation to any matter or compliance with 
sections 11(1a), 11A, 11B, 11C, 11D, 11E, 11F, 20(1)  
and 20(3) of the Audit Act 1994 (Audit Act). 

The jurisdiction of the VI to receive complaints varies 
according to the agency complained about. The VI 
may receive a very wide range of complaints about the 
IBAC, different and less wide ranges about Ombudsman 
officers and the Chief Examiner and Examiners,  
and a very narrow range about VAGO officers.

In addition, Section 9 of the Schedule of the VI Act 
enables a person to make a complaint to the VI about 
any administrative action taken by the Office of Police 
Integrity (OPI) before the commencement day (10 
February 2013) that could have been the subject of  
a complaint to the Ombudsman (or an investigation  
of the Ombudsman’s own motion) before that day.

Performance Reporting

18%
Increase in 
number of  
complaints

51%
Increase in 
number of 
enquiries
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Complaints and enquiries  
received in 2015–16
The VI distinguishes between 
complaints and enquiries.

An enquiry is contact from a 
member of the public seeking 
information about the VI’s complaint 
processes or other information. An 
enquiry may or may not proceed to 
become a complaint. 

A complaint is a matter where the VI 
has received a completed complaint 
form or other substantive information 
from a person who has made it clear 
that his or her intention is to make a 
complaint to the VI.

In addition to complaints and 
enquiries received from members 
of the public, the VI received 
during the reporting period five 
notifications from the Ombudsman 
under sub-section 16F(2) of the 
Ombudsman Act. This provision 
requires the Ombudsman to notify 
the VI of any complaint which 
appears to relate to the conduct 
of, among others, the IBAC, IBAC 
personnel or an Ombudsman officer. 
Four notifications received by the 
VI concerned the IBAC or IBAC 
personnel, while one related to the 
Ombudsman or an Ombudsman 
officer. In each of those cases the 
VI contacted the person who had 
complained to the Ombudsman 
to advise of their right to make a 
complaint to the VI.

In addition, two complaints about 
the IBAC were disclosed during 
the reporting period by the IBAC 
itself under section 71 of the IBAC 
Act, and other two complaints were 
referred to the VI by the IBAC under 
section 73 of the IBAC Act.

In 2015–16 the VI received a total of 
67 complaints and 92 enquiries:

32
Complaints about 
the IBAC or IBAC
personnel

26
Enquiries about 
the IBAC or IBAC 
personnel

30
Complaints about 
Victorian Ombudsman 
officers

40
Enquiries about
Victorian Ombudsman 
officers

1
Complaint about VAGO

0
Complaints about 
the Chief Examiner
or Examiner

4
Non-jurisdictional 
complaints

26
Non-jurisdictional 
enquiries

This is an 18% increase on the 
number of complaints and 51% 
increase on the number of enquiries 
compared with the previous financial 
year. It may be seen that all but one 
complaint related to IBAC personnel 
or Ombudsman officers.

How the VI assesses complaints
Upon receipt of each complaint or 
enquiry the VI assesses it for two 
purposes:
• First, to determine whether the VI 

has jurisdiction to investigate it

• Secondly, where the VI considers 
that it has jurisdiction to 
investigate the complaint, to 
determine whether it warrants 
investigation.

The assessment process requires the 
VI to gain a full understanding of the 
matters about which the complainant 
is complaining, and of the decision 
that has been made by the agency 
concerned, including the reasons for 
that decision.

It is frequently the case that the 
information provided with a 
complaint initially is not sufficient for 
this purpose. In such cases the VI 
usually first seeks further information 
from the complainant. In some 
cases, for example where complex 
communication with the complainant 
is difficult, the VI may seek the 
further information it needs from the 
agency concerned (almost always the 
IBAC or the Ombudsman’s office).  

In some cases it is evident from the 
outset that the complaint does not 
warrant investigation. The reasons 
for this may be varied. The complaint 
may lack any particularity; for 
example, the complainant may not 
identify any particular conduct about 
which he or she is complaining. It 
may consist of extreme allegations 
unsupported by any direct or 
circumstantial evidence. In such 
cases, the VI informs the complainant 
that it will take no further action 
unless further credible information is 
provided. 

Where the complaint is credible on 
its face, the VI’s usual practice is to 
request the operational file from the 
agency concerned. After reviewing 
the file the VI is usually in a position 
to determine whether or not the 
complaint warrants investigation.  
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Where a matter is considered to be 
within jurisdiction but not meriting 
investigation, the reasons for not 
investigating varied but included 
such factors as the complaint lacking 
substance or the subject-matter of 
the complaint already having been 
fully investigated by another agency 
(including in some cases having been 
considered by a court). The most 
common reason why a complaint 
does not merit investigation is that 
no potential error is identified in 
the manner in which the agency 
complained about has acted.  

Complaint received

Acknowledge receipt of complaint

Assess complaint

• Is complaint within jurisdiction?
 — Section 43 of the VI Act
 — Referred protected disclosure complaint
 — Complaint referred under section 73 of the IBAC Act

• Is more information required in order to assess jurisdiction?
 — Seek further information from complainant
 — Seek information from agency

Complaint is within Complaint is outside
jurisdiction jurisdiction

   • Advise complainant
    in writing of decision

   • Advise agency of decision
    (if relevant)

Assess whether complaint merits investigation

• Credibility, including evidentiary support

• Age

• Availability of more appropriate remedy

• Significance of alleged conduct

• Is further information required?
 — Contact complainant
 — Obtain agency file/seek information from agency

Complaint merits Complaint does not 
investigation  merit investigation

• Notify complainant • Advise complainant that

• Notify agency (unless   no further action wil be

 this could prejudice   taken, giving reasons

 investigation) • Advise agency of decision
    (if relevant)

Investigation

Figure 1: VI’s complaint assessment flowchart

>
>

>
>

>
>

>
>



Complaint outcomes
Of the 32 complaints received about the IBAC or IBAC 
personnel:
• five form part of two own motion investigations

• six were deemed closed (information requested  
not provided by complainant)

• 17 were closed based on there being insufficient 
evidence to support the allegations, or there being 
no evidence to suggest that the IBAC had improperly 
exercised its discretion whether or not to investigate  
a complaint that had been made to it

• one complaint is on hold, as per complainant’s request 

• one complainant was directed to the IBAC  
(not yet complained to the IBAC)

• two complaints were still being considered by the IBAC

Of the 30 complaints received about Ombudsman officers:
• four were deemed closed (information requested  

not provided by complainant)

• 18 were closed based on insufficient evidence 
to support allegations or Ombudsman conduct 
reasonable in the circumstances 

• two complaints are on hold, as per complainants’ 
request 

• three complaints were still being considered by the 
Victorian Ombudsman

• one complaint was withdrawn

• one complaint was outside VI’s jurisdiction

• one complaint is being considered by the IBAC

One complaint about a VAGO officer was investigated, 
one complaint was an invalid referral by the IBAC, and 
the other three complaints received were outside the  
VI’s jurisdiction. 
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Investigations

In 2015–16 the VI commenced two own motion investigations about IBAC’s conduct 
and commenced and completed one protected disclosure investigation. 

The two own-motion investigations are continuing.

Figure 2: VI’s investigation flowchart

Plan investigation

• Prepare investigation plan
• Notify agency in writing if investigating a complaint  
 (unless this could prejudice the investigation)

Exercise of specific powers

• VI may conduct an inquiry (Sections 49 and 50 of the VI Act)
• VI may hold an examination (Section 51(1) of the VI Act)
• VI may enter, search, inspect, copy and seize any document (Section 63 of the VI Act)
• VI may require persons to attend issue witness summons (Section 53 of the VI Act)
• VI may require documents to be produced (Section 60 of the VI Act)
• VI may administer oath/affirmation (Section 62 of the VI Act)
• VI may issue a Confidentiality Notice (Section 38 of the VI Act)

Weigh up probative value of information received

• Consider legislative requirements
• Consider the usual, everyday meaning of words
• Is an adverse report likely? (If so, the VI must provide opportunity to comment)
• Compile investigation report

Communicate outcome to complainant

Communicate outcome to agency

Possible outcomes of an investigation

• Recommendations (ie. prevent specified conduct from continuing, to remedy harm  
 arising from conduct) to:
 — IBAC (Section 78 of the VI Act)
 — VAGO (Section 80 of the VI Act)
 — Ombudsman (Section 82 of the VI Act)
 — Chief Examiner (Section 84)
• Recommendation not to report must be in writing
• The VI may require the IBAC to report to the VI on recommendations
• The VI may recommend disciplinary action to the IBAC (in private)
• The VI may make public recommendations (Section 79(2) of the VI Act)
• The VI may make recommendations to the Chief Commissioner of Police, the Director  
 of Public Prosecutions, the Australian Federal Police, the Auditor-General, the  
 Victorian Workcover Authority, Other Body re: IBAC
• The VI may report to each House of Parliament (the public body must be given right  
 to respond to adverse comments and the VI to set out responses in report)
• Provide advice to a complainant, ie. any action taken by the VI and any  
 recommendations by the VI that action be taken by a person or the body
 (Section 79(1) or 79(3) of the VI Act)
• Do any or all of these things
• Make no finding or take no action following investigation

>
>

>
>
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The completed protected disclosure investigation 
The protected disclosure investigation was referred to 
the VI by the IBAC pursuant to section 73 of the IBAC 
Act. The complaint was anonymous. The subject of 
the investigation had resigned before the protected 
disclosure complaint was referred to the VI. There were 
four allegations identified by the VI, three of which were 
of financial impropriety and one of which was that the 
subject had been unduly influenced in the performance 
of his duties in an inappropriate manner. All allegations 
were investigated by the VI. Information was sought and 
obtained by the VI from government departments using 
the statutory powers available to the VI, and the subject 
was examined on oath by the VI.

The VI determined that each of the four allegations was 
unsubstantiated. It was also found that one amount had 
been wrongly claimed and reimbursed, but that there 
was no evidence of intentional wrongdoing.  

Examinations and interviews 
Examinations and interviews are part of the VI’s 
investigative processes.

An examination takes place when a person is  
summoned by the VI pursuant to section 53 of the  
VI Act. Examinations are conducted on oath or 
affirmation. A person summoned may be required  
to answer questions or to produce specified  
documents or things, or both. 

An interview takes place when a person attends at the 
VI’s office to answer questions without being summoned 
under section 53 of the VI Act. An interview may, with  
the consent of the interviewee, be conducted on oath  
or affirmation. 

In 2015–16 the VI issued nine summonses under section 
53 of the VI Act. A total of four witnesses were examined 
and five were required to produce documents. A further 
eight witnesses were interviewed.

The VI is also empowered to issue confidentiality notices, 
and to direct a person summoned not to engage a 
particular legal representative (though the person may 
engage another legal representative). In 2015–16 the VI 
issued 11 confidentiality notices and two restrictions of 
legal representation.

In addition, the VI made two requests for reasonable 
assistance pursuant to section 48(1) of the VI Act, both  
of which were complied with.

Monitoring and Oversight: Coercive powers 
and Legislative compliance

Agencies using coercive powers are required to notify 
the VI each time they are used. They are also required 
to notify the VI of the issue or cancellation of any 
confidentiality notice, and any direction not to engage 
a specified legal practitioner. The VI received a total of 
1088 notifications during the reporting period. This was  
a 28% increase over the previous financial year. 
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IBAC
Comprehensiveness and adequacy of reports made  
to the VI by the IBAC
The IBAC Act requires the IBAC to report a number  
of matters to the VI.
• Section 117 of the IBAC Act requires the IBAC 

to report to the VI any determination to hold an 
examination in public. The report it required to 
address the reasons why the IBAC considered that the 
requirements of that section in relation to the holding 
of examinations in public were met. In the 2015–16 
reporting year, the IBAC did not make any such 
determination.

• Section 122 of the IBAC Act requires the IBAC to 
report to the VI the issue of any witness summons, 
including the name of the person summoned and 
the reasons why the summons was issued. The VI 
received 338 notifications relating to the issue of 
witness summonses during the reporting period; 43 
of these summonses required immediate attendance 
by the person summoned.

• Section 134 of the IBAC Act requires the IBAC to 
give the VI a copy of the video recording and any 
transcript of a coercive examination. The VI received 
179 notifications relating to examinations during the 
reporting period.

• Sections 142 and 154 of the IBAC Act both require 
the IBAC to report to the VI the issue of certain arrest 
warrants. The IBAC did not report the issue of any 
such warrant during the reporting period

• Section 43 of the IBAC Act requires the IBAC to give 
the VI copies of any confidentiality notice issued by it, 
and certain related documents including cancellations 
of confidentiality notices. The VI received 411 
notifications relating to the issue and cancellation of 
confidentiality notices during the reporting period.

• In addition, the VI may request reports from the IBAC 
in relation to coercive questioning and in making 
recommendations. During the current reporting 
period the VI did not consider it necessary to make 
any such requests.

Generally the VI considers comprehensiveness to include 
the scope and detail of information provided, while 
adequacy is assessed by considering whether sufficient 
information was provided to allow the VI to make an 
assessment as to whether it met legislative requirements. 

While the IBAC generally continued to make reports to 
the VI that were comprehensive and adequate, the VI did 
raise a number of specific matters for the IBAC’s attention 
during the reporting period. These included matters 
regarding the adequacy of the reasons provided by the 
IBAC for issuing a witness summons, the delay between 
the examination of a witness and the IBAC’s provision of 
the transcript and recording of that examination for VI 
review, and issues regarding inconsistent details included 
in documents provided to the VI.

In the case of delayed recordings and transcripts, the 
IBAC has advised that they have performed an internal 
review of their procedures regarding matters reported to 
the VI and that a new process has been put in place. 

The VI continues to raise such matters as they arise. As 
stated above, they occur in a minority of cases.  Where 
the VI receives an insufficient report, it requests a 
supplementary report.

Compliance with the VI Act and the IBAC Act
The VI has a broad function under section 11(2)(a) of the 
IBAC Act. It requires the VI to monitor the compliance of 
IBAC with its legislative responsibilities under the IBAC 
Act and other laws. Such monitoring involves checking 
that the business IBAC has created and developed to 
perform its statutory functions enables the IBAC and 
its personnel to perform those statutory functions in 
accordance with the IBAC Act and other applicable laws. 

The objective of the VI’s monitoring program for 2015–16 
was to obtain a deeper operational knowledge and 
understanding of the business IBAC has developed 
to perform its functions under the IBAC Act.  That 
objective has been achieved.  With that knowledge and 
understanding the VI is better equipped to monitor the 
compliance of IBAC’s business with the IBAC Act. 

In the 2015-2016 period the VI’s focus was on the 
systems, policies and procedures that IBAC has 
established to perform its statutory functions. The 
methodology utilised by the VI involved developing 
‘activity modules’ around IBAC’s business areas. The 
modules the VI utilised were in relation to:

• Complaints and notifications;

• Protected disclosures;

• Referrals and reviews;

• Strategic and operational intelligence;

• Investigations;

• Liaison with other bodies;

• Prevention and education; and

• Performance measurement. 

Whilst the subject matter of the modules appears to 
divide the business of IBAC, the VI recognises that IBAC 
performs its functions under the IBAC Act in an holistic 
manner. 

Throughout the monitoring project the VI gathered 
information, conducted research and engaged in 
meetings with IBAC operational personnel with respect 
to the subject matter of each module. The VI project 
team worked to check the business of IBAC against 
its functions, duties and powers under the IBAC Act. 
In the course of this examination the VI noted certain 
matters that may be considered more closely to ensure 
compliance by IBAC with the laws governing the 
performance of its functions and duties and the exercise 
of its powers. Consideration of these matters will form 
the basis of the VI’s monitoring program in the 2016–17 
reporting period. 
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Compliance by the IBAC with the 
PD Act 
The IBAC has many functions and 
powers under Part 8 of the PD Act. 
These include the main functions of 
receiving and assessing protected 
disclosure complaints. In carrying 
out these functions the IBAC has 
incorporated into its Complaint 
Management System (CMS) 
processes for the identification 
and management of protected 
disclosures and protected disclosure 
complaints. 

In the current reporting period the 
IBAC has reissued its guidelines 
for making and handling protected 
disclosures and welfare management 
in the current reporting period. 
The VI, as well as the IBAC, 
participates in the Protected 
Disclosure Liaison Group, which 
is a group of stakeholders in the 
protected disclosures regime which 
includes other integrity bodies 
with responsibilities under the PD 
Act, as well as the President of the 
Legislative Council and the Speaker 
of the Legislative Assembly. 
The VI is continuing to assess the 
IBAC’s compliance its functions 
under the PD Act and will be in  
a position to report on this further  
in the next reporting period. 

Details of the extent to which 
action recommended by the  
VI to be taken by the IBAC has  
been taken
On 29 February 2016, the Inspector 
made two recommendations to the 
IBAC pursuant to section 78 of the 
VI Act.

One of those recommendations 
was that legal advice should be 
obtained by the IBAC from the 
Solicitor-General as to the legality of 
certain summonses. The IBAC then 
informed the VI that it had previously 
obtained legal advice on the matter 
from senior counsel, and a copy of 
that advice was supplied to the VI. 
On reading the advice, the Inspector 
considered that it was no longer 
necessary for advice to be obtained 
from the Solicitor-General and 
withdrew the recommendation. 

The other recommendation was 
that the IBAC should adjourn the 
examination of certain witnesses 
who had been summoned to give 
evidence. The IBAC implemented 
that recommendation, and the 
examination of those witnesses 
ultimately did not proceed. 

Public Interest Monitors
The VI conducted one inspection 
and audit of the records kept by the 
PIM during the reporting period. 
The PIM was found to be fully 
compliant with the requirements of 
the legislation, and fully cooperative, 
providing all possible assistance 
to the VI in the performance of its 
functions.

Chief Examiner and Examiners 
Comprehensiveness and Adequacy 
of Reports
In the full-year period from  
1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016,  
39 notifications were received under 
section 52 of the MCIP Act by the 
VI, comprising 38 reports of the 
issue of a witness summons and 
one report of the issue of a custody 
order under section 18 of that Act. In 
addition, the Chief Examiner, without 
being under a legislative obligation 
to do so, notified the VI that one 
witness summons had been issued 
by the Supreme Court of Victoria. 
All summonses related to giving 
evidence (as opposed to producing 
documents or things). Thirty-three 
reports were received under section 
53 in relation to examinations held 
within the reporting period. 

In compliance with the MCIP Act, 34 
section 52 reports received by the VI 
from the Chief Examiner during the 
2015–16 year were delivered within 
three days after the issue of the 
summons or the making of a custody 
order (custody orders are discussed 
below). Similarly, section 53 reports 
were provided to the VI as soon as 
practicable after the examination 
had been completed and each 
contained the information required 
under the Act and prescribed by the 
Regulations. 

All of the reports received from the 
Chief Examiner were considered to 
be adequate and comprehensive.

The VI may make recommendations 
to the Chief Examiner and request 
a report as to the extent to which 
any such recommendation has been 
implemented. During the current 
reporting period the VI did not  
make any recommendations to the 
Chief Examiner.

Report – Coercive Powers Orders, 
custody orders, summonses and 
compulsory examinations
During the reporting period the 
Chief Examiner notified the VI of 
the making of two CPOs and the 
revocation of three CPOs by the 
Supreme Court.

A person held in prison or a police 
gaol can be compelled under  
section 18 of the MCIP Act to attend 
before the Chief Examiner. An order 
under section 18 is known as a 
custody order. An application for a 
custody order essentially follows the 
same procedure as an application 
to the Supreme Court or the Chief 
Examiner for the issue of a summons; 
although unlike a summons, a 
section 18 order can only require a 
person to attend for the purpose of 
giving evidence and not to produce 
documents or other things. 

The Chief Examiner reported to the 
VI that 39 persons in all were ordered 
to be examined during the reporting 
period. This figure comprised 38 
witnesses who had been summoned 
to attend and one witness who was 
made the subject of a custody order.

During the reporting period a total 
of 33 witnesses were compulsorily 
examined by the Chief Examiner or 
an Examiner. All were civilians (non-
police) and 16 of them were legally 
represented. 

In all cases reviewed the Chief 
Examiner or Examiner explained  
to the witness his or her right to 
receive legal advice and to be  
legally represented.
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Relevance  
The VI is satisfied that the questions 
asked during coercive examinations 
by the Chief Examiner, and the 
documents or things required to be 
produced by the Chief Examiner, 
were relevant and appropriate to 
the purposes of the investigations 
in the course of which the coercive 
examinations were conducted 
and the documents or things were 
required to be produced. 

Generally
During the year the initial Chief 
Examiner, Damian Maguire, retired.  
The then Examiner, Stephen 
McBurney, was appointed Acting 
Chief Examiner and later Chief 
Examiner. More recently Joanne 
Gleeson, formerly of a Public Interest 
Monitor, was appointed as Examiner. 
Mr McBurney undertook a review 
of, and made some revisions to, the 
procedures of the office. 
Throughout Mr Maguire’s time in 
office, excellent cooperation with 
the VI was provided by him and the 
members of his office, and the VI 
wishes him well in his retirement.  
The VI looks forward to working with 
Mr McBurney.  

Victoria Police and the Chief 
Commissioner 
In the current reporting period, 
the Chief Commissioner provided 
the VI with two written reports 
under section 66 of the MCIP Act 
covering the periods 1 July 2015 to 
31 December 2015 and 1 January 
2016 to 30 June 2016 respectively.  
The VI is satisfied that the reports 
were sufficiently comprehensive 
and adequate and contained all 
the matters required under the Act 
and the Regulations. The VI was 
satisfied that the Chief Commissioner 
complied with the provisions of the 
MCIP Act during the period the 
subject of this report.

Cooperation
Full cooperation from the Chief 
Commissioner and police members 
continued during the reporting year 
and was greatly appreciated by the 
VI and its staff.

VAGO 
In the course of discharging his 
various functions and powers under 
the Audit Act, the 
Auditor-General can require a 
person to appear before him, either 
to produce specified documents or 
for the purpose of conducting an 
examination (i.e. to give evidence 
on oath) or both.  If the person’s 
attendance is solely for the purpose 
of producing documents, the 
Auditor-General is required to 
provide the VI with a written report 
specifying the name of the person 
and the reasons why he or she was 
required to attend.  The report must 
be given to the VI within 3 days after 
the Auditor-General first issued the 
requirement to attend (section 11A of 
the Audit Act). The VI did not receive 
any such reports in the year under 
review, meaning it was unnecessary 
to assess the Auditor-General’s 
compliance with these statutory 
requirements. 
The VI also noted that in the course 
of carrying out his various statutory 
functions, the Auditor-General 
completed a substantial number of 
performance audits.  

The VI may request reports of 
the Auditor-General in relation to 
coercive questioning. The VI may 
also make recommendations to  
the Auditor-General and request 
reports on the extent to which they 
have been implemented. During  
the current reporting period the 
Auditor-General did not conduct any 
coercive questioning and the VI did 
not make any recommendations. 

Ombudsman
Section 18A of the Ombudsman Act 
requires the Ombudsman to report 
to the VI the name of the person 
summoned and the reasons why the 
summons was issued within 3 days 
after the issue of a witness summons. 
During the reporting period the 
Ombudsman reported the issue of 
26 summonses to the VI.
Section 18F requires the 
Ombudsman to provide the VI with 
copies of audio or video recordings 
of persons who attended before an 
Ombudsman officer for a compulsory 
appearance. The VI received the 
audio recordings of 42 persons who 
were compulsorily examined by an 
Ombudsman officer.

Section 26E of the Ombudsman 
Act requires the Ombudsman to 
provide the VI with copies of any 
confidentiality notice issued by 
the Ombudsman and certain other 
documents relating to confidentiality 
notices. During the reporting period 
the Ombudsman reported the issue 
of five confidentiality notice to the VI.

The VI may request reports of 
the Ombudsman in relation to 
coercive questioning. The VI may 
also make recommendations to the 
Ombudsman and request reports 
as to the extent to which they have 
been implemented. During the 
current reporting period the VI did 
not consider it necessary to make 
any such requests and did not make 
any recommendations. 

It is a function of the VI under section 
11(4)(a)(ii) to monitor compliance 
by Ombudsman officers with 
procedural fairness requirements in 
the performance of functions under 
the Ombudsman Act, including 
in the conduct of enquiries and 
investigations and the making of 
reports and recommendations.  
During the reporting period the VI 
engaged with senior Ombudsman 
personnel for this purpose.  The 
Ombudsman’s detailed internal 
procedures manual was obtained 
and reviewed in detail and 
clarification was sought and obtained 
in relation to a number of matters 
arising from this review.  
The VI’s survey of the Ombudsman’s 
compliance with procedural fairness 
requirements is a continuing process, 
but no instances of failure to comply 
have yet been identified.  
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Oversight Functions of the 
VI in relation to the Use 
of Telecommunications 
Interceptions, Surveillance 
Devices and Controlled 
Operations  

The responsibilities of the VI in 
respect of the above matters include 
the inspection of records and 
monitoring legislative compliance.

Telecommunications interceptions
Eligible authorities of the State 
of Victoria that are declared by 
the Commonwealth Attorney-
General under section 34 of the 
Telecommunications (Interception 
and Access) Act 1979 (TIA Act) to 
be agencies for the purpose of 
that Act are permitted to intercept 
telecommunications under the 
authority of a warrant and to make 
certain uses of lawfully intercepted 
information. As a condition of the 
Commonwealth Minister making 
a declaration at the request of a 
State Premier, a State must have 
legislation in place which addresses 
the accountability of the State 
agencies through record keeping 
requirements and inspection 
oversight. In Victoria the relevant 
legislative provisions are found in the 
Telecommunications (Interception) 
(State Provisions) Act 1988 (TISP Act).

The VI is required under the TISP 
Act to inspect the records of Victoria 
Police and the IBAC at least twice 
each year and to report annually 
after 1 July to the Police Minister 
and the Minister (being the Minister 
responsible for the IBAC, currently 
the Special Minister of State) on 
the results of these inspections. 
The VI may also report at any other 
time and must do so if asked by the 
Police Minister, Minister or Attorney-
General. In reporting under the 
provisions of the TISP Act, the VI 
may include a report on any matter 
where, as a result of the inspection 
of agency records, the VI is of the 
opinion that a member of the staff 
of an agency has contravened a 
provision of the TIA Act or the 
requirement under the TISP Act to 
provide certain documents to the 
Minister. 

Reports under the TISP Act are not 
publicly available and are provided 
only to agency chief officers, 
the Police Minister, the Minister 
and the State Attorney-General. 
The Police Minister and Minister 
must then forward a copy to the 
Commonwealth Attorney-General (as 
the Minister responsible for the TIA 
Act). 

Surveillance devices
The VI has responsibility under 
the Surveillance Devices Act 1999 
(SD Act) to inspect those Victorian 
agencies that are authorised to 
use surveillance devices. The SD 
Act is based on national model 
surveillance device legislation 
cooperatively developed by States, 
Territories and the Commonwealth 
and it provides, amongst other 
things, for cross-border recognition 
of warrants authorising the use 
of surveillance devices and the 
controlled communication and use 
of protected information obtained 
under the authority of a surveillance 
device warrant. With effect from the 
Commencement Date, the VI took 
over that responsibility.

During the reporting period the 
legislation authorised a number of 
Victorian agencies to use surveillance 
devices. They are:
• Victoria Police

• the IBAC

• Game Management Authority 
(GMA)

• the Department of Economic 
Development, Jobs, Transport  
and Resources (DEDJTR)

• the Department of Environment, 
Land, Water and Planning 
(DELWP) 

The SD Act requires the VI to inspect 
the records of those agencies from 
time to time and to report the results 
of inspections to each House of the 
Parliament as soon as practicable 
after 1 January and 1 July of each 
year. A copy of the report was 
required to be provided to the 
Minister (the Attorney-General) 
at the time it is transmitted to the 
Parliament. 

During the 2015–16 reporting period, 
the agencies who exercised the 
authority to use surveillance devices 
were Victoria Police, the IBAC and 
DELWP. The VI conducted one 
inspection of DELWP and two rounds 
of inspections for Victoria Police 
and the IBAC. The results of the 
inspections were reported on, and 
the reports were tabled in Parliament 
and are publicly available on the VI’s 
website. 

Controlled operations
A controlled operation is a covert 
investigation method used by 
law enforcement agencies. It 
involves a participant (usually a law 
enforcement officer, but sometimes 
a civilian) working ‘under cover’ and 
associating with people suspected 
of criminal activity in order to obtain 
evidence to support the prosecution 
of an offence. For this purpose 
and subject to strict controls and 
guidelines, the participant may need 
to engage in unlawful conduct.  
Under the legislation a controlled 
operations authority may be granted 
which indemnifies authorised 
participants against liability for such 
unlawful conduct.  

The power to conduct controlled 
operations is governed by:
• the Crimes (Controlled 

Operations) Act 2004 (CO Act) 
in respect of Victoria Police and 
the IBAC

• the Fisheries Act 1995 in respect 
of Fisheries Victoria, as part of 
the DEDJTR, 

• the Wildlife Act 1975 in respect  
of the Compliance Support 
Group, as part of the DELWP,  
and the GMA  

During the 2015–16 year, the VI 
undertook two full inspections of 
Victoria Police and the IBAC records 
pursuant to the CO Act and received 
reports from the chief officer of each 
of the five agencies. No inspections 
were conducted in regards to 
Fisheries Act and Wildlife Act as 
these agencies did not conduct 
controlled operations during the 
reporting period. 
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The VI received bi-annual reports 
from the chief officer of each agency 
authorised to conduct controlled 
operations.  

The CO Act, Fisheries Act and 
Wildlife Act also require the 
VI to inspect the records and 
documents of the authorised law 
enforcement agencies and to report 
to the relevant Ministers and to the 
Parliament on the work, activities 
and level of statutory compliance 
achieved by each.

The reports prepared by the VI have 
been tabled in the Parliament.

Cooperation and compliance 
reporting
The VI is pleased to again report 
that all agencies inspected were 
fully cooperative and provided all 
possible assistance to the VI in the 
performance of its functions.

Structural Changes to the
VI in 2015–16

There were no changes made to the 
output structure of the VI.

Current financial year review

The financial position of the VI 
remains very sound.  In the reporting 
period, as in previous years, the VI 
significantly underspent its budget.  
However it is unlikely that the budget 
will be significantly underspent in 
2016–17, due to the additional staff 
recruited and to be recruited, as well 
as a major software acquisition.  

The VI does not receive any revenue 
outside its government allocation. 
All of the VI’s expenses are made 
through the Department of Treasury 
and Finance.  The VI is awaiting 
a response to its application for 
exemption from the requirement 
to have an internal auditor; it does 
have an Audit Committee which 
meets at least 4 times each year and 
reviews not only the VI’s financial 
performance and procedures but 
also risk management generally.

Four Year Summary

As a new organisation, established  
in 2013, the VI provides the following 
breakdown of revenue and 
expenditure (table below): 

Significant changes  
in financial position

There were no significant matters 
which changed VI’s financial position 
during the reporting period.

Significant changes  
or factors affecting 
performance

There were no significant 
changes or factors which affected 
VI’s performance during the 
reporting period.

Capital projects

The VI does not manage any 
capital projects.

Disclosure of grants  
and transfer payments

The VI has not provided any grants 
or transfer payments to companies 
or organisations.

Subsequent events

There are no subsequent 
events to report.

2015–16
$

2014–15
$

2013–14
$

2012–13
$

Total income from transactions 2,715,052 2,388,879 2,418,100 821,600

Total expenses from transactions 2,934,925 2,706,030 2,562,735 788,613

Net result from transactions (219,873) (317,151) (144,635) 32,987

Other economic flows included in net result (2,403) (1,831) 2,141 1,680

Net cashflows from operations 14,856 6,881 456,935 0

Total assets 2,960,691 3,203,486 3,395,824 483,517

Total liabilities 549,028 569,547 442,903 176,874
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The VI is led by the Inspector and  
the Chief Operations Officer. 

Inspector, Robin Brett QC
Robin Brett QC was appointed as 
Inspector in January 2013 for a term 
of 5 years.  Prior to his appointment 
Mr Brett QC practised as a barrister 
for 31 years, including 16 as Queen’s 
Counsel. Prior to that he was a 
Parliamentary Counsel.

Organisational Structure

Chief Operations Officer,  
Neal Jedwab
Neal Jedwab was appointed as 
the VI’s Chief Operations Officer 
in October 2013 for a term of 5 
years, after serving for a number of 
years as the Director Legal Policy & 
Operations for both the Office of 
the Special Investigations Officer 
and the VI. He is responsible for 
management of the VI’s operations 
across all areas. 

Section 2: Governance and Organisational Structure
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Chief
Operations

Officer

Principal
Solicitor

Solicitor
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Audit Committee membership and roles

The audit committee consists of the following members:
• David Gibbs, Chairman (Independent member) 

• David Boymal AO (Independent member)

The main responsibilities of the audit committee are to: 
• review and report independently to the Inspector on 

the annual report and all other financial information 
published by the VI;

• assist the Inspector in reviewing the effectiveness  
of the VI’s internal control environment covering:

 — effectiveness and efficiency of operations;
 — reliability of financial reporting; and
 — compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

• ensure that its resources are adequate and used 
effectively, including coordination with the external 
auditors; and

• oversee the effective operation of the risk 
management framework.

Occupational Health and Safety

The VI has a commitment to good Occupational Health 
& Safety (OH&S) practices within the workplace. The 
health, safety and wellbeing of all visitors to our offices 
is considered and approached positively. All employees 
have access to an independent Employee Assistance 
Program (EAP), influenza vaccinations, ergonomic 
assessments and other physical and psychological 
wellbeing services. The VI considers OH&S matters 
regularly and provides relevant training to staff.  

Incident Management

The VI has had not any accidents, incidents or near-
misses in the current reporting period and has not had 
any lost time in relation to OH&S injuries. As there were 
no claims, there were no associated costs for the year. 
This is consistent with previous years, where the VI 
maintains a record of no matters to report. 
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Public Administration values 
and employment principles

The VI is committed to applying 
merit and equity principles when 
appointing staff. The selection 
processes ensure that applicants 
are assessed and evaluated fairly 
and equitably on the basis of 
the key selection criteria and 
other accountabilities without 
discrimination. 

Table 1: Summary of employment levels in June of 2015 and 2016

June 2016 June 2015

Ongoing Fixed Term Casual Total Ongoing Fixed Term Casual Total

Number Number Number Number Number Number Number Number

(Headcount) FTE (Headcount) FTE (Headcount) FTE (Headcount) (Headcount) FTE (Headcount) FTE (Headcount) FTE (Headcount)

9 9 0 0 0 0 9 6 6 0 0 0 0 6

 
Table 2: Details of employment levels in June of 2015 and 2016

June 2016 June 2015

Ongoing Fixed term & Casual Ongoing Fixed term & Casual

Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE

Gender

Male 2 2 0 0 1 1 0 0

Female 7 7 0 0 5 5 0 0

Age

Under 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

25–34 2 2 0 0 2 2 0 0

35–44 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0

45–54 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0

55–64 5 5 0 0 2 2 0 0

Over 64 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Classification

Executive 
Officers 3 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0

VPS Grade 6 2 2 0 0 2 2 0 0

VPS Grade 5 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

VPS Grade  4 5 5 0 0 3 3 0 0

Comparative Workforce Data

The data provided is actual full time 
equivalent (FTE) data as at 30 June 
2016 for Victorian Public Sector (VPS) 
employees and does not include 
statutory appointments. Employees 
have been correctly classified in 
workforce data collections. 

The VI employed 9 staff (9 FTE) 
compared to 6 staff (6 FTE) on  
30 June 2015

Section 3: Workforce Data
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Executive Officer  
data disclosures

The executive officer data is current 
as at 30 June 2016. The number of 
Executives reported is the number of 
Executives at the end of the financial 
year. Note 18 in the Financial 
Statements provides further details 
regarding executive remuneration. 

Male Female Vacancies

2015-2016 2014-2015 2015-2016 2014-2015 No.

EO3 1 1 0 0 0

Total 1 1 0 0 0

Victorian Industry 
Participation Policy

The Victorian Industry Participation 
Policy Act 2003 (VIPP) requires 
departments and public bodies to 
report on the implementation of 
the VIPP.

During 2015 –16, the VI did not have 
any VIPP applicable procurement.

Consultancy Expenditure 

The VI did not engage any consultants 
in the current reporting period. 

Major Contracts

The VI did not enter into any major 
contracts in the current reporting 
period.

Business As Usual (BAU) 
ICT expenditure

Non-Business As Usual 
(non-BAU) ICT expenditure

Operational expenditure Capital expenditure

(Total)
(Total = Operational 
expenditure and Capital 
Expenditure)

31,949 15,580 15,580 -

Government Advertising 
Expenditure

The VI returned a nil report for 
advertising expenditure in the 
current reporting period. 

Information and 
Communication Technology 
Expenditure 

For the 2015–16 reporting period, 
the VI had a total Information and 
Communication Technology (ICT) 
expenditure of $47,529 with details 
shown below.

ICT expenditure refers to the VI’s 
costs in providing business enabling 
ICT services. It comprises Business 
As Usual (BAU) ICT expenditure 
and Non Business As Usual (Non 
BAU) ICT expenditure. Non BAU ICT 
expenditure relates to extending 
or enhancing the VI’s current ICT 
capabilities. BAU ICT expenditure is 
all remaining ICT expenditure which 
primarily relates to ongoing activities 
to operate and maintain the current 
ICT capability.

Section 4: Other Disclosures
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Compliance with the Freedom of Information  
Act 1982 

The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI Act) allows  
the public a right of access to certain documents held  
by the VI.

In the period 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016 the VI received 
no requests for access to documents under the FOI Act. 

VI documents
Section 102 of the VI Act exempts certain classes of 
documents in the possession of the VI from access 
through the FOI Act. Specifically, the FOI Act does 
not apply to a document that is in the possession of 
a ‘relevant person or body’ to the extent to which the 
document discloses information that relates to—
• a complaint made under the VI Act; or
• an inspection made under the VI Act; or
• an investigation conducted under the VI Act; or
• a recommendation made by the VI under the VI Act: 

or
• a report, including a progress report, on an 

investigation conducted under the VI Act.

A relevant person or body for the purposes of section 
102 means the VI and an Inspectorate officer, the IBAC, 
the Ombudsman and an officer of the Ombudsman, 
the Chief Commissioner of Police, the PIM, the 
Victorian Work Cover Authority, the Director of Public 
Prosecutions, the Australian Federal Police, the Chief 
Examiner and any Examiner, an officer of the Victorian 
Auditor General and any other prescribed person.

Making a request
Access to document may be obtained through written 
request to the VI, as detailed in section 17 of the FOI Act. 
In summary, the requirements for making a request are:
• it should be in writing;
• it should identify as clearly as possible which 

document is being requested; and
• it should be accompanied by the appropriate 

application fee (the fee may be waived in certain 
circumstances).

Requests for documents in possession of the VI should 
be addressed to:

Victorian Inspectorate
Freedom of Information
PO Box 617 Collins Street West
Melbourne  Victoria  8007
info@vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au

Access charges may also apply once documents have 
been processed and a decision on access is made, for 
example photocopying and search and retrieval charges.
Further information regarding FOI can be found at  
www.foi.vic.gov.au.

Compliance with the Building Act 1993

The VI does not own or control any government 
buildings and consequently is exempt from notifying its 
compliance with the building and maintenance provisions 
of the Building Act 1993. 

National Competition Policy

The VI does not provide services that would attract 
the implementation and compliance with National 
Competition Policy. As a result, the VI has not had 
to comply with the requirements of the Competitive 
Neutrality Policy Victoria and any subsequent reforms  
in the current reporting period. 

Compliance with the Protected Disclosure 
Act 2012

The PD Act encourages and assists people in making 
disclosures of improper conduct by public officers and 
public bodies.

The purposes of the PD Act as set out in section 1 of the 
PD Act are –
• to encourage and facilitate disclosures of—
 — improper conduct by public officers, public bodies
      and other persons; and
 — detrimental action taken in reprisal for a person
      making a disclosure under this Act; and

• to provide protection for—
 — persons who make those disclosures; and
 — persons who may suffer detrimental action in
      reprisal for those disclosures; and

• to provide for the confidentiality of the content of 
those disclosures and the identity of persons who 
make those disclosures.

What is a ‘protected disclosure’?
A protected disclosure is a complaint about improper 
conduct engaged in, and/or detrimental action taken 
by, public bodies or public officers performing public 
functions.

What is ‘improper or corrupt conduct’?
Improper or corrupt conduct involves substantial:
• mismanagement of public resources; or
• risk to public health or safety or the environment; or
• corruption.

The conduct must be criminal in nature or a matter for 
which an officer could be dismissed.

Who can make a disclosure?
Any individual or group of individuals. A disclosure 
cannot be made by a business or company.
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How do I make a disclosure?
Verbally or in writing (but not by fax) in accordance  
with specific procedures.

Who can I make a disclosure to?
If you wish to make a protected disclosure about:
• the Chief Examiner or an Examiner appointed under 

section 21 of the MCIP Act
• A Victorian Ombudsman officer
• A VAGO officer

you may contact the IBAC or the VI:

Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption 
Commission (IBAC) 
GPO Box 24234
Melbourne Victoria 3001
Telephone: 1300 735 135
Email: info@ibac.vic.gov.au
Website: www.ibac.vic.gov.au

If you wish to make a protected disclosure about the 
IBAC, including its officers, you must contact the VI:

Victorian Inspectorate
PO Box 617
Collins Street West
Melbourne Victoria 8007
Telephone: (03) 8614 3225
Email: info@vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au
Website: www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au

VI Disclosures under the PD Act
No assessable disclosures were made to the VI during 
the reporting period. Accordingly no assessments were 
made, no disclosures were made to the IBAC. One 
protected disclosure complaint was referred to the VI  
by the IBAC and investigated by the VI.

Compliance with the Victorian Inspectorate 
Act 2011

Section 91 of the VI Act sets out additional reporting 
requirements for the VI, which are detailed throughout 
this report, specifically under the Performance Reporting 
section (p.11-21).

Compliance with the Carers Recognition  
Act 2012

To the extent applicable, the VI has taken all practical 
measures to comply with its obligations under the  
Carers Recognition Act 2012.

Office based environment impacts

The VI minimises the use of electricity and water  
by using efficient appliance and office equipment, 
including energy efficient lighting which turns off  
in unstaffed areas.

The VI uses 80% recycled copy paper, encourages 
electronic communication, double-sided printing and  
PIN printing when necessary in order to reduce the  
paper usage. 

The VI uses segregated waste systems, where all 
recyclable materials are recycled. Bin contents are 
cleared daily and communal building waste receptacles 
are utilised for all tenants in the building. 

The VI does not have any office vehicles. Staff are 
encouraged to use public transport in undertaking 
business activities.  

Additional information available on request

In compliance with the Standing Directions of the 
Minister for Finance, details in respect of the items 
below have been retained by the VI and are available on 
request, subject to the provisions of the FOI Act. 
• a statement that declarations of pecuniary interests 

have been duly completed by all relevant officers;

• details of shares held by a senior officer as nominee 
or held beneficially in a statutory authority or 
subsidiary; 

• details of publications produced by the VI about 
itself, and how these can be obtained; 

• details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and 
levies charged by the VI; 

• details of any major external reviews carried out on 
the VI;

• details of major research and development activities 
undertaken by the VI; 

• details of overseas visits undertaken including a 
summary of the objectives and outcomes of each 
visit;

• details of major promotional, public relations and 
marketing activities undertaken by the entity to 
develop community awareness of the VI and its 
services; 

• details of assessments and measures undertaken 
to improve the occupational health and safety of 
employees; 

• a general statement on industrial relations within 
the entity and details of time lost through industrial 
accidents and disputes; 

• a list of major committees sponsored by the VI, the 
purposes of each committee and the extent to which 
the purposes have been achieved; and

• details of all consultancies and contractors including:
 — consultants/contractors engaged; 
 — services provided; and
 — expenditure committed to for each engagement.

Further enquiries should be directed to:
Chief Operations Officer
Victorian Inspectorate
PO Box 617 Collins Street West
Melbourne Victoria 8007



Attestation for compliance with SD 4.5.5

I, Robin Alfred Brett certify that the VI has complied with the  
Ministerial Standing Direction 4.5.5 – Risk Management Framework  
and Processes. The VI’s Audit Committee has verified this.

Robin Brett QC
Inspector
5 October 2016
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Disclosure Index

The annual report of the VI is prepared in accordance with all  relevant Victorian legislations and pronouncements. 
This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the VI’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Legislation Requirement Page

Ministerial Directions

REPORT OF OPERATIONS

Charter and purpose

FRD 22G Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 8

FRD 22G Purpose, functions, powers and duties 8–10

FRD 8D Departmental objectives, indicators and outputs N/A

FRD 22G Key initiatives and projects 5–7

FRD 22G Nature and range of services provided 8–10

Management and structure

FRD 22G Organisational structure 22

Financial and other information

FRD 8D Performance against output performance measures N/A

FRD 8D Budget portfolio outcomes N/A

FRD 10A Disclosure index 29–30

FRD 12A Disclosure of major contracts 25

FRD 15C Executive officer disclosures 25

FRD 22G Employment and conduct principles 24

FRD 22G Occupational health and safety policy 23

FRD 22G Summary of the financial results for the year 21

FRD 22G Significant changes in financial position during the year 21

FRD 22G Major changes or factors affecting performance 21

FRD 22G Subsequent events 21

FRD 22G Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 26

FRD 22G Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 26

FRD 22G Statement on National Competition Policy 26

FRD 22G Application and operation of the Protected Disclosure 2012 16, 26–27

FRD 22G Application and operation of the Carers Recognition Act 2012 27

FRD 22G Details of consultancies over $10,000 25

FRD 22G Details of consultancies under $10,000 25

FRD 22G Disclosure of government advertising expenditure 25

FRD 22G Disclosure of ICT expenditure 25

FRD 22G Statement of availability of other information 27

FRD 24C Reporting of office-based environmental impacts 27
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Legislation Requirement Page

FRD 25B Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures 25

FRD 29A Workforce Data disclosures 24

SD 4.5.5 Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing Direction 4.5.5 28

FINANCIAL REPORT

SD 4.2(g) Specific information requirements 8–21

SD 4.2(j) Sign-off requirements 4

Financial statements required under Part 7 of the FMA

SD 4.2(a) Statement of changes in equity 38

SD 4.2(b) Operating statement 36

SD 4.2(b) Balance sheet 37

SD 4.2(b) Cash flow statement 38

Other requirements under Standing Directions 4.2

SD 4.2(c) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative pronouncements 39–47

SD 4.2(c) Compliance with Ministerial Directions 39–47

SD 4.2(d) Rounding of amounts N/A

SD 4.2(c) Accountable officer’s declaration 33

SD 4.2(f) Compliance with Model Financial Report 33–62

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements*

FRD 11A Disclosure of Ex gratia Expenses N/A

FRD 21B Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officers and other Personnel 
(Contractors with Significant Management Responsibilities) in the Financial Report 58–59

FRD 103F Non-Financial Physical Assets 43–44, 50–51

FRD 110 Cash Flow Statements 38

FRD 112D Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations 55

* Note: References to FRDs have been removed from the Disclosure Index if the specific FRDs  
  do not contain requirements that are of the nature of disclosure

LEGISLATION

Freedom of Information Act 1982 26

Building Act 1993 26

Protected Disclosure Act 2012 16, 26–27

Carers Recognition Act 2012 27

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 25

Financial Management Act 1994 39–47

Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011 11–21, 27

Disclosure Index (continued)
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Accountable Officer’s and Chief Finance  
and Accounting Officer’s Declaration

The attached financial statements for the Victorian Inspectorate have been prepared 
in accordance with Standing Direction 4.2 of the Financial Management Act 1994, 
applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including 
Interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive 
operating statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow 
statement and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions during 
the year ended 30 June 2016 and financial position of the Victorian Inspectorate  
at 30 June 2016.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render 
any particulars included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 24 August 2016

Robin Brett Ingrid Klein
Inspector Chief Finance and Accounting Officer
Victorian Inspectorate
Melbourne Melbourne
24 August 2016 24 August 2016
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(VAGO) Independent Auditor’s Report
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(VAGO) Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
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Comprehensive operating statement for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2016

 
Notes

2016
$ 

2015
$ 

Income from transactions
Grants 1(e),2 2,715,052 2,388,879

Total income from transactions 2,715,052 2,388,879 

Expenses from transactions 
Employee expenses
Finance lease interest
Supplies and services
Depreciation

3(a)
1(f)

3(b)
3(c)

 1,515,141 
 987 

 700,476 
 718,321 

 1,248,863 
 1,168 

 699,432 
 756,567 

Total expenses from transactions 2,934,925  2,706,030 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance)  (219,873)  (317,151)

Other economic flows included in net result
Net gains/(losses) on non financial assets
Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows

4
4

 5,059
(7,462)

-
(1,831)

Total other economic flows included in net result (2,403) (1,831)

Net result (222,276) (318,982)

Other economic flows - other comprehensive income - -

Total other economic flows – other comprehensive income - -

Comprehensive result (222,276) (318,982)

The above comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance sheet
as at 30 June 2016

 
Notes

2016
$ 

2015
$ 

Assets
Financial assets
Receivables 5 1,231,430 838,704

Total financial assets 1,231,430 838,704

Non-financial assets
Prepayments
Property, plant and equipment 6

51,447
1,677,814 

 - 
2,364,782 

Total non-financial assets 1,729,261 2,364,782

Total assets 2,960,691 3,203,486

Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Borrowings
Unearned lease incentive

7
8
9

10

58,378 
341,651 
38,704 

110,295 

161,860
212,159
22,207

173,321 

Total liabilities 549,028 569,547

Net assets 2,411,663 2,633,939 

Equity
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Contributed capital

 (680,598)
 3,092,261 

 (458,322)
 3,092,261

Net worth 2,411,663 2,633,939 

Commitments for expenditure
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

13
14

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of changes in equity
for the financial year ended 30 June 2016

Accumulated 
surplus/(deficit) 

$

 Contributions 
by owners 

$
Total

$

Balance at 30 June 2014 (139,340) 3,092,261 2,952,921 

Net result for the year  (318,982)  -  (318,982)

Balance at 30 June 2015  (458,322)  3,092,261  2,633,939 

Net result for the year  (222,276)  -  (222,276)

Balance at 30 June 2016  (680,598)  3,092,261  2,411,663 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Cash flow statement
for the financial year ended 30 June 2016

Notes
2016

$
2015

$

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from Government
Payments to suppliers 
Payments to employees 
Interest and other finance costs paid

 2,249,753 
(860,506)

(1,373,405)
(986)

 1,836,062 
(560,751)

(1,267,262)
(1,168)

Net cash flows from operating activities 16(b)  14,856 6,881

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of non-financial assets
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment

(6,085)
 20,682

 - 
 -

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities  14,597  - 

Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions by government provided for capital expenditure
Repayment of finance leases

 - 
(29,453)

-
(6,881)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

(29,453)
-

(6,881)
-

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 16(a) - -

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 1. Summary of significant accounting policies

These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements for the Victorian 
Inspectorate (the Inspectorate) for the year ended 30 June 2016. The purpose of the report is to provide users  
with information about the Inspectorate’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

(a) Statement of compliance
 These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management 

Act 1994 (FMA) and applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASs), which include Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  In particular, they are presented in a manner consistent with 
the requirements of AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

 Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable to not-for-profit entities have been applied. 

 Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information 
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying 
transactions or other events is reported.

 To gain a better understanding of the terminology used in this report, a glossary of terms can be found in Note 21.

 These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Inspector on 24 August 2016.

(b) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement
 The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation of these financial statements, whereby  

assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, 
regardless of when cash is received or paid.

 Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

 Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future 
periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application 
of AASs that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to: 

 • the fair value of plant and equipment (refer to Note 1(j)); 
 • assumptions for employee benefit provisions based on likely tenure of existing staff, patterns of leave claims,
  future salary movements and future discount rates (refer Note 1(k));

 These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, and prepared in accordance with the historical  
cost convention, except where noted.

 Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, the Inspectorate determines the policies and procedures 
for both recurring fair value measurements such as property, plant and equipment, in accordance with the 
requirements of AASB 13 and the relevant Financial Reporting Directions.

 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:  

 • Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
 • Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
  measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and
 • Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
  measurement is unobservable.

 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Inspectorate has determined classes of assets and liabilities on  
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy  
as explained above.
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 In addition, the Inspectorate determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy 
 by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
 as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
 
(c) Reporting entity
  The financial statements cover the Inspectorate as an individual reporting entity.
 
 The financial statements include all activities of the Inspectorate. 

 Its principal address is:
 Victorian Inspectorate
 Level 8
 565 Bourke Street
 Melbourne VIC 3000 
 
 Enabling legislation (Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011)
 The Inspectorate is a body corporate established under Part 8 of the Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011 (the Act), 

operating under the auspices of the Department of Premier and Cabinet and reporting to Parliament through the 
Special Minister of State. The Inspectorate’s objectives, functions, powers and duties are set out in sections 11 

 and 12 of the Act.
 
 Objectives and funding
 The main functions of the Victorian Inspectorate, under the Act, are:
 • monitor legislative compliance of the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption (IBAC) agency and IBAC
  personnel with the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission Act 2011 and other laws;
 • monitor legislative compliance of a Public Interest Monitor with the prescribed obligations;
 • assess the effectiveness and appropriateness of the policies and procedures of the IBAC which relate to 
  the legality and propriety of IBAC’s activities;
 • receive complaints under the Act in accordance with the Act;
 • investigate and assess the conduct of the IBAC and IBAC personnel in the performance or exercise of
  purported performance or purported exercise of their duties, functions and powers ;and
 • report on, and make recommendations as a result of, the performance of its duties and functions.
 
 The Inspectorate is funded for the provision of outputs consistent with its statutory functions. Funds are from
 accrual-based grants derived from monies appropriated annually by Parliament through the Department of 

Premier and Cabinet.

(d) Scope and presentation of financial statements
 
 Comprehensive operating statement
 The comprehensive operating statement comprises three components, being ‘net result from transactions’ (or 

termed as ‘net operating balance’), ‘other economic flows included in net result’, as well as ‘other economic flows – 
other comprehensive income’. The sum of the former two represents the net result.

 The net result is equivalent to profit or loss derived in accordance with AASs.

 ‘Other economic flows’ are changes arising from market remeasurements. They include:
 • gains and losses from disposals of non-financial assets;
 • revaluations and impairments of non-financial physical and intangible assets; and
 • the revaluation of the present value of leave liabilities due to changes in bond interest rates.
 
 This classification is consistent with the whole of government reporting format and is allowed under AASB 101 

Presentation of Financial Statements.
 
 Balance sheet
 Assets and liabilities are presented in liquidity order with assets aggregated into financial assets and 
 non-financial assets.
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 Current and non-current assets and liabilities (non-current being those assets or liabilities expected to be 
recovered or settled beyond 12 months except for the provisions of employee benefits, which are classified as 
current liabilities if the Inspectorate does not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liabilities 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period) are disclosed in the notes, where relevant.

 Cash flow statement
 Cash flows are classified according to whether or not they arise from operating, investing or financing activities. 

This classification is consistent with requirements under AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows.

 Statement of changes in equity 
 The statement of changes in equity presents reconciliations of each non-owner and owner changes in equity 

from opening balance at the beginning of the reporting period to the closing balance at the end of the reporting 
period. It also shows separately changes due to amounts recognised in the ‘comprehensive result’ related to 
‘transactions with owner in its capacity as owner’.

(e) Income from transactions
 Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the 

income can be reliably measured at fair value.

 Grants
 Income from grants (other than contribution by owners) is recognised when the Inspectorate obtains control  

over the contribution.

 Fair value of assets and services received free of charge or for nominal consideration
 Contributions of resources received free of charge or for nominal consideration are recognised at fair value when 

control is obtained over them, irrespective of whether these contributions are subject to restrictions or conditions 
over their use. Contributions in the form of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would have been purchased if not received as a donation.

 The Department of Premier and Cabinet has been centrally funded for services it provides to the Inspectorate.  
These services are not recognised in the financial statements of the Inspectorate as their fair values cannot be 
reliably determined. The services that are utilised include the use of financial systems, payroll systems, accounts 
payable, asset register and IT network.

(f) Expenses from transactions
  Expenses from transactions are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which  

they relate. 

 Employee expenses
 Refer to the section in Note 1(k) regarding employee benefits.

 These expenses include all costs related to employment, including wages and salaries, superannuation, fringe 
benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments and WorkCover premiums. 

 The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement for superannuation expense is the employer 
contributions for members of defined contribution superannuation plans that are paid or payable to these plans 
during the reporting period. 

 Depreciation and amortisation
 Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any 

estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. 
 Refer to Note 1(j) for the depreciation policy for leasehold improvements.

 The estimated useful lives, residual vales and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual 
reporting period, and adjustments made where appropriate. 
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 The following are typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for both current and prior years.
 • plant and equipment – 5 years
 • leasehold improvements – 5 years
 • leased motor vehicles – 2.5 years

 Finance lease interest
 Finance lease interest charges are recognised as expenses in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

 Supplies and services
 Supplies and services costs are recognised as expenses in the reporting period in which they are incurred.
  
(g) Other economic flows included in the net result
 Other economic flows measure the change in volume or value of assets or liabilities that do not result  

from transactions.
 
 Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities  
 Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses as follows:
 
 Disposal of non-financial assets
 Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date of disposal and is determined 

after deducting from the proceeds the carrying value of the asset at that time.
 
 Impairment of non-financial assets
 All non-financial assets are assessed annually for impairment, as to whether their carrying value exceeds their 

recoverable amount and so require write downs, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired.

 
 If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds 

their recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is 
written off as an other economic flow, except to the extent that the write-down can be debited to an asset 
revaluation surplus amount applicable to that class of asset.   

 
 If there is an indication that  there has been a change in the estimate of an asset’s recoverable amount since 

the last impairment loss was recognised, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. This 
reversal of the impairment loss occurs only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss  
had been recognised in prior years. 

 
 It is deemed that, in the event of the loss or destruction of an asset, the future economic benefits arising from 

the use of the asset will be replaced unless a specific decision to the contrary has been made. The recoverable 
amount for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and fair value less costs to sell. 
Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at the higher of the present 
value of future cash flows expected to be obtained from the asset and fair value less costs to sell.

 Refer to Note 1(j) in relation to the recognition and measurement of non-financial assets.

 Impairment of financial assets
 At the end of each reporting period, the Inspectorate assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 

asset or group of financial assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets, except those measured at fair value 
through profit or loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.

 
 Receivables are assessed for bad and doubtful debts on a regular basis. Those bad debts considered as written 

off by mutual consent are classified as a transaction expense. The allowance for doubtful receivables and bad 
debts not written off by mutual consent are adjusted as other economic flows.

 Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments
 Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments includes:
 • realised and unrealised gains and losses from revaluations of financial instruments at fair value;
 • impairment and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost (refer to Note 1(i)); and 
 • disposals of financial assets. 
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 Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows
 Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains or losses from:
 • the revaluation of the present value of leave liabilities due to changes in the bond interest rates; and 
 • transfer of amounts from the reserves to accumulated surplus or net result due to disposal or 
  derecognition or reclassification. 
 
(h) Financial instruments
 Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 

financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of the Inspectorate’s activities, certain 
financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract. Such financial assets and financial 
liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation.  
For example, statutory receivables arising from taxes, fines and penalties do not meet the definition of financial 
instruments as they do not arise under contract.  

 
 Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made between those financial assets and financial 

liabilities that meet the definition of financial instruments in accordance with AASB 132 and those that do not.
 
 The following refers to financial instruments unless otherwise stated.
 
 Loans and receivables
 Loans and receivables are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted 

on an active market. These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment.

 
 Loans and receivables category includes trade receivables, loans and other receivables, but not statutory 

receivables.
 
 Financial liabilities at amortised cost
 Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially measured 

at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial 
instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the 
redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of the interest-bearing liability, using the 
effective interest rate method (refer to Note 21).

 
 Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include all of the Inspectorate’s contractual payables, 

deposits held and advances received, and interest-bearing arrangements other than those designated at fair  
value through profit or loss.

 
(i) Financial assets
 
 Receivables
 Receivables consist of:
 • contractual receivables, which include mainly debtors in relation to goods and services; and
 • statutory receivables, which include predominantly amounts owing from the Victorian Government.
 
 Statutory receivables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment), 

but are not classified as financial instruments because they do not arise from a contract.

(j) Non-financial assets
 
 Plant and equipment
 All non-financial physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair 
value at the date of acquisition. Assets transferred as part of a machinery of government change are transferred  
at their carrying amount. 

 Plant and equipment is held at fair value. The Inspectorate applies an individual asset capitalisation threshold  
of $5,000. Individual acquisitions below this value are expensed.
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  Leasehold improvements
 The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised as an asset and depreciated over five years, being the 

applicable overall lease term, and which is considered to be less than or equal to the estimated useful life 
 of the improvements.
 
 Leased motor vehicles
 Motor vehicles under finance lease are being depreciated over two to three years. Refer also Note 1(l).
 
(k) Liabilities
 
 Payables
 Payables consist of:
 • contractual payables, such as accounts payable.  Accounts payable represent liabilities for goods and
  services provided to the Inspectorate prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise 
  when the Inspectorate becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of those
  goods and services.
 • statutory payables, such as goods and services tax and fringe benefits tax payables.
 
 Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as financial liabilities at amortised cost 

(refer to Note 7). Statutory payables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not 
classified as financial instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because 
they do not arise from a contract.

 
 Borrowings
 The borrowings of the Inspectorate comprise liabilities under finance leases - see Note 1(l). Fair value is 

determined in the manner described in Note 15(e).
 
 Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when the Inspectorate has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits 

is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.   
 
 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where 
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows, using discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the 
provision.

 
 When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be received from a third 

party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received and the amount 
of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

 
 Employee benefits
 Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long 

service leave for services rendered to the reporting date.

 (i) Wages and salaries and annual leave
 Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non monetary benefits annual leave and accumulating sick leave, are all 

recognised in the provision for employee benefits as ‘current liabilities’, because the Inspectorate does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities. 

 
 Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries, annual leave and sick 

leave are measured at:
 • nominal value if the Inspectorate expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or 
 • present value if the Inspectorate does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

 (ii) Long service leave
 Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.
 
 Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability even where the 

Inspectorate does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.
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 The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:
 • nominal value if the Inspectorate expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and
 • present value if the Inspectorate does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

 Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of 
the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non-current LSL liability is 
measured at present value.

 
 Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a 

transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then 
recognised as an other economic flow (refer to Note 1(g)).

 
 (iii) Termination benefits
 Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an 

employee decides to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. The Inspectorate 
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of 
current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.

 
 (iv) On-costs
 Provisions for on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are recognised separately 

from provision for employee benefits. 
 
(l) Leases
 A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment. 
 
 Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance 

of the agreement so as to reflect the risk and rewards incidental to ownership. Leases of property, plant and 
equipment are classified as finance infrastructure leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.  

 Operating leases  
 Operating lease payments, including any contingent rentals, are recognised as an expense in the comprehensive 

operating statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset. The leased asset is not 
recognised in the balance sheet.

 
 All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease are recognised as an integral part of the net 

consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the incentive’s nature or form or the timing of 
payments.

 
 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, the aggregate cost of incentives are 

recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis, unless another systematic 
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

 
 Finance leases  
 At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases are initially recognised as assets and liabilities at amounts 

equal to the fair value of the lease property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each 
determined at the inception of the lease. The lease asset is accounted for as a non-financial physical asset. If there 
is certainty that the Inspectorate will obtain the ownership of the lease asset by the end of the lease term, the 
asset shall be depreciated over the useful life of the asset. If there is no reasonable certainty that the Inspectorate 
will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease 
term and its useful life.

  
 Minimum finance lease payments are apportioned between reduction of the outstanding lease liability and 

periodic finance expense, which is calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and charged directly to 
the comprehensive operating statement.  Contingent rentals associated with finance leases are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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(m) Equity
 Consistent with the requirements of AASB1004 Contributions, contributions by owners (that is contributed capital 

and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do not form part of the income and expenses 
of the Inspectorate.

 
 Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as contributed 

capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or distributions have also been designated as 
contributions by owners.

 
(n)  Commitments
 Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts. These 

commitments are disclosed by way of a note at their nominal value and inclusive of the goods and services tax 
(GST) payable. In addition, where it is considered appropriate and provides relevant information to users, the net 
present values of significant individual projects are stated. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as 
commitments once the related liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.

 
(o)  Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed by way 

of a note (refer Note 14) and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are 
presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

(p) Accounting for income tax and the goods and services tax (GST)
 The Inspectorate does not incur Australian income tax. It is an income tax exempt entity.
 
 Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, except where the GST incurred 

is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case, the GST payable is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

 
 Accrued expenses (included in payables) are stated inclusive of the amount of GST payable. The corresponding 

amount of GST recoverable from the taxation authority is included with receivables in the balance sheet.
 
 Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. On a day-to-day transactional basis, the Inspectorate is grouped  

under DPC for GST purposes, and DPC remits or receives the relevant net GST on behalf of the Inspectorate.
 
(q) Events after the reporting period
 Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past events. Where the transactions 

result from an agreement between the Inspectorate and other parties, the transactions are only recognised 
when the agreement is irrevocable at or before the end of the reporting period. Adjustments are made to 
amounts recognised in the financial statements for events which occur between the end of the reporting period 
and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue, where those events provide information 
about conditions which existed at the reporting date. Note disclosure is made about events between the end 
of the reporting period and the date the financial statements are authorised for issue where the events relate to 
conditions which arose after the end of the reporting period that are considered to be of material interest.

 
(r) Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet effective
 As at 30 June 2016, the following standards and interpretations (applicable to the Inspectorate) had been issued 

but were not mandatory for the 30 June 2016 reporting period. The Department of Treasury and Finance assesses 
the impact of these new standards and advises the Inspectorate of their applicability and early adoption where 
applicable.

 
 AASB 9 Financial Instruments, applicable for reporting periods commencing 1 January 2018. The key changes 

include the simplified requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets, a new hedging 
accounting model and a revised impairment loss model to recognise impairment losses earlier, as opposed to the 
current approach that recognises impairment only when incurred. While the Inspectorate’s assessment has not 
identified any material impact arising from AASB 9, it will continue to be monitored and assessed.
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 AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010), applicable 
for reporting periods commencing 1 January 2018. The requirements for classifying and measuring financial 
liabilities were added to AASB 9. The existing requirements for the classification of financial liabilities and the 
ability to use the fair value option have been retained. However, where the fair value option is used for financial 
liabilities the change in fair value is accounted for as follows:

 • the change in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk is presented in other comprehensive income; and
 • other fair value changes are presented in profit or loss. If this approach creates or enlarges an accounting
  mismatch in the profit or loss, the effect of the changes in credit risk are also presented in profit or loss.

 The Inspectorate’s assessment has identified that the amendments are likely to result in earlier recognition of 
impairment losses and at more regular intervals. 

 
 AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [Part E Financial Instruments], applicable for 

reporting periods commencing 1 January 2018. Amends various AASs to reflect the AASB’s decision to defer the 
mandatory application date of AASB 9 to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018; as a 
consequence of Chapter 6; and to amend reduced disclosure requirements. This amending standard will defer the 
application period of AASB 9 to the 2018-19 reporting period in accordance with the transition requirements.

 
 AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9, applicable for reporting 

periods commencing 1 January 2018. Amends various AASs to incorporate the consequential amendments arising 
from the issuance of AASB 9. The Inspectorate’s assessment has indicated that there will be no significant impact 
for the Inspectorate.

 
 AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, applicable for reporting periods commencing 1 January 2018. 

The core principle of AASB 15 requires an entity to recognise revenue when the entity satisfies a performance 
obligation by transferring a promised good or service to a customer. Note that amending standard AASB 2015-8 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15 has deferred the effective date 
of AASB 15 to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, instead of 1 January 2017. The 
changes in revenue recognition requirements in AASB 15 may result in changes to the timing and amount of 
revenue recorded in the financial statements. The Standard will also require additional disclosures on service 
revenue and contract modifications. 

 
 AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15, applicable 1 Jan 

2017, except amendments to AASB 9 (Dec 2009) and AASB 9 (Dec 2010) apply from 1 Jan 2018. Amends 
the measurement of trade receivables and the recognition of dividends. Trade receivables, that do not have 
a significant financing component, are to be measured at their transaction price, at initial recognition. The 
Inspectorate’s assessment has indicated that there will be no significant impact for the Inspectorate.

 
 AASB 16 Leases, applicable for reporting periods commencing 1 January 2019. The key changes introduced by 

AASB 16 include the recognition of most operating leases (which are currently not recognised) on balance sheet. 
The Inspectorate’s assessment has indicated that as most operating leases will come on balance sheet, recognition 
of lease assets and lease liabilities will cause net debt to increase. Depreciation of lease assets and interest on 
lease liabilities will be recognised in the income statement with marginal impact on the operating surplus. The 
amounts of cash paid for the principal portion of the lease liability will be presented within financing activities and 
the amounts paid for the interest portion will be presented within operating activities in the cash flow statement. 

 
 AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting 

Standards 2012-2014 Cycle [AASB 1, AASB 2, AASB 3, AASB 5, AASB 7, AASB 11, AASB 110, AASB 119, AASB 121, 
AASB 133, AASB 134, AASB 137 & AASB 140], applicable for reporting periods commencing 1 January 2016. 
Amends the methods of disposal in AASB 5 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations. 
Amends AASB 7 Financial Instruments by including further guidance on servicing contracts. The assessment has 
indicated that when an asset (or disposal group) is reclassified from ‘held to sale’ to ‘held for distribution’, or vice 
versa, the asset does not have to be reinstated in the financial statements. Entities will be required to disclose 
all types of continuing involvement the entity still has when transferring a financial asset to a third party under 
conditions which allow it to derecognise the asset. 

 
 AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party Disclosures to 

Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, AASB 124 & AASB 1049] , applicable for reporting periods 
commencing 1 January 2016. AASB 2015-6 extends the scope of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures to 
not-for-profit public sector entities. Guidance has been included to assist the application of the Standard by 
not-for-profit public sector entities. The amending standard will result in extended disclosures on the entity’s key 
management personnel, and the related party transactions.
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Note 2. Income from transactions

2016
$

2015
$

Grants
Department of Justice
Department of Premier and Cabinet

-
2,715,052

1,389,008
999,871

Total grants 2,715,052 2,388,879 

The Inspectorate receives all its income from State Government, specifically now from the Department of Premier and 
Cabinet (DPC).  DPC funds the Inspectorate’s depreciation expense equal to the amount allocated against its budget 
at the commencement of the year. Accordingly, the Inspectorate shows a deficit net result from transactions. This does 
not impact on the Inspectorate’s ability to operate as a going concern.

Note 3. Expenses from transactions

2016
$

2015
$

Expenses from transactions includes:

(a) Employee expenses
Salaries and wages
Annual leave and long service leave
Post employment benefits
     Defined contribution superannuation expense
Other on-costs (fringe benefits tax, payroll tax and WorkCover levy)

 1,139,070 
 215,407 

 73,013 
 87,651 

 1,007,967 
 114,612 

 62,079
 64,205 

Total employee expenses 1,515,141 1,248,863 

(b) Supplies and services
Professional services
Information technology
Operating lease rentals
Other

 27,949
 36,547

 300,751 
 335,229  

14,342
42,928

384,347
257,815 

Total supplies and services 700,476 699,432 

(c) Depreciation 
Depreciation – plant and equipment
Depreciation – building leasehold improvements
Depreciation – motor vehicles under finance lease

 2,597 
 707,138 

 8,586 

 1,887 
 747,745 

 6,935 

Total depreciation 718,321 756,567 

Note 4. Other economic flows included in net result

2016
$

2015
$

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows
Net gains/(losses) on non financial assets (i)

Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of leave liabilities (ii)
5,059

(7,462)
-

(1,831)

Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows (2,403) (1,831)

(i) Gain/(loss) on the sale of leased motor vehicle.
(ii) Revaluation gain/(loss) due to changes in government bond rates.
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Note 5. Receivables

2016
$

2015
$

Current receivables
Contractual
Debtors
Statutory
GST recoverable
Amounts receivable from Victorian government departments (i)

16,304 

2,692 
1,159,636 

- 

12,464 
769,629 

Total current receivables 1,178,632 782,093 

Non-current receivables
Statutory
Amounts receivable from Victorian government departments (i) 52,798 56,611 

Total non-current receivables 52,798 56,611 

Total receivables  1,231,430 838,704 

(i) The amounts receivable from Victorian government departments represent funding for all commitments incurred 
through the appropriations and are drawn down as the commitments fall due.
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Note 6. Property, plant and equipment

Gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation

Public Administration Purpose Group

Gross carrying amount Accumulated depreciation Net carrying amount

2016
$

2015
$

2016
$

2015
$

2016
$

2015
$

Leasehold improvements at cost

Plant and equipment at fair value

Motor vehicles under finance lease

 3,535,715 

 15,519 

 40,890 

 3,535,715 

 9,434 

 32,961 

 (1,906,655)

 (5,427)

 (2,228)

 (1,199,517)

 (2,830)

 (10,981)

 1,629,060 

 10,092 

 38,662

 2,336,198 

 6,604 

 21,980 

Total property, plant and equipment  3,592,124  3,578,110  (1,914,310)  (1,213,328)  1,677,814  2,364,782 

Movements in carrying amounts

Leasehold improvements 
at cost

2016
$

2015
$

Opening balance
Additions
Depreciation

 2,336,198 
 -

(707,138)

 3,083,943 
 -   

 (747,745)

Closing balance  1,629,060  2,336,198 

Plant and equipment  
at fair value

Opening balance
Additions
Depreciation

 6,604 
 6,085 

 (2,597)

 8,491 
 -   

 (1,887)

Closing balance  10,092  6,604 

Motor vehicles under 
finance lease

Opening balance
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation

 21,980 
 40,890 

 (15,622)
 (8,586)

 28,915 
 -   
 -   

 (6,935)

Closing balance  38,662  21,980 

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is held at fair value. When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that  
it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined using the depreciation  
replacement cost method.

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2016.

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.
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Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 30 June 2016

Carrying 
amount Fair value measurement, using:

$
Level 1 (i)

$
Level 2 (i)

$
Level 3 (i)

$

Plant and equipment at fair value  10,092  - -  10,092 

Total of property, plant and equipment at fair value 10,092 - -  10,092 

Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 30 June 2015

Carrying 
amount Fair value measurement, using:

$
Level 1 (i)

$
Level 2 (i)

$
Level 3 (i)

$

Plant and equipment at fair value  6,604 - -  6,604 

Total of property, plant and equipment at fair value  6,604 - -  6,604 

(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy - see Note 1(b). 

Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations

Valuation technique (ii) Significant unobservable inputs (iii)

Plant and equipment Depreciated replacement cost

Cost per unit

Useful life of plant and equipment

(ii) Plant and equipment is held at fair value. When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that they are rarely 
sold other than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined using the depreciation replacement cost method.

(iii) The significant unobservable inputs have remained unchanged from 2015.

Reconciliation of level 3 fair value

Plant and equipment  
at fair value

$

2016
Opening balance
Purchases
Transfers between classes
Gains or losses recognised in net result
Depreciation

 6,604 
 6,085 

 -   
 -   

 (2,597)

Closing balance  10,092 

2015
Opening balance
Purchases
Transfers between classes
Gains or losses recognised in net result
Depreciation

 8,491 
 -   
 -   
 -   

 (1,887)

Closing balance  6,604 
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Note 7. Payables

2016
$

2015
$

Current payables
Contractual
Supplies and services
Other payables

29,892 
24,406 

150,180 
9,180 

54,298 159,360 

Statutory
Fringe benefits tax payable 4,080 2,500 

4,080 2,500 

Total payables 58,378 161,860 

(a) Maturity analysis of contractual payables
Refer to Note 15 for the maturity analysis of contractual payables.

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from contractual payables
Refer to Note 15 for the nature and extent of risks arising from contractual payables.

Note 8. Provisions

2016
$

2015
$

Current provisions
Employee benefits – annual leave 
Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 
Employee benefits – long service leave:
Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 
Performance bonus

 105,206 
 36,618 

 22,153 
 106,276 
 18,600 

 66,356 
 20,643 

 11,996 
 56,553 

 -   

Total current provisions 288,853 155,548 

Non-current provisions
Employee benefits – long service leave 52,798  56,611

Total non-current provisions 52,798  56,611 

Total provisions 341,651 212,159 



VICTORIAN INSPECTORATE  |  2015 – 16 ANNUAL REPORT  |  53

Note 9. Borrowings

2016
$

2015
$

Current borrowings
Finance lease liabilities (i)  13,338  22,207 

Total current borrowings  13,338  22,207 

Non-current borrowings
Finance lease liabilities (i)  25,366 -

Total non-current borrowings  25,366  -   

Total borrowings  38,704  22,207 

Note:
(i) Secured by the assets leased. Finance leases are effectively secured as the rights  
to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default.

(a) Maturity analysis of borrowings
Please refer to Note 11 for the maturity analysis of borrowings.

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from borrowings
Please refer to Note 15 for the nature and extent of risks arising from borrowings.

Note 10. Unearned lease incentive

2016
$

2015
$

Current
Non-current

63,026 
47,269 

63,026 
110,295 

Total unearned lease incentive  110,295  173,321 

The lease incentive relates to the Inspectorate’s Bourke Street, Melbourne, office facilities, 
which are leased for a term of five years, terminating as at March 2018, with an option to 
extend for a further five years. Refer also Note 11.

The lease incentive benefit is being allocated over the term of the lease.
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Note 11. Leases

Operating leases
Commitments under a non-cancellable operating lease at the reporting date are as follows:

2016
$

2015
$

Not longer than one year
Longer than one year and not longer than five years
Longer than five years

 422,313 
 329,829 

 - 

 407,048
 752,142

 - 

Total commitments 752,142 1,159,190 

Leasing arrangements:
The Bourke Street, Melbourne, office facilities are leased for a term of five years, terminating as at March 2018, with an 
option to extend for a further five years. The Inspectorate does not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the 
expiry of the lease period.

Finance leases
Leasing arrangements:
Finance leases relate to a motor vehicle with a lease term of two and a half years, terminating as at October 2017.

Minimum future  
lease payments (i)

Present value of minimum 
future lease payments

2016
$

2015
$

2016
$

2015
$

Finance lease liabilities payable (ii)

Not longer than one year
Longer than one year but not longer than five years
Minimum future lease payments
Less future finance charges

 14,275 
 25,592 
 39,867 
 (1,163)

 23,001 
 - 

 23,001 
 (794)

 13,338 
 25,366 
 38,704 

 - 

 22,207 
 - 

 22,207 
 - 

Present value of minimum lease payments  38,704  22,207  38,704  22,207 

Included in the financial statements as:
Current (Note 9)
Non-current (Note 9)

 13,338 
 25,366 

 22,207 
 - 

 38,704  22,207 

(i) Minimum future lease payments includes the aggregate of all base payments and any guaranteed residual.
(ii) Secured by the leased asset. Finance leases are effectively secured as the rights to the leased asset reverts  
to the lessor in the event of default.
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Note 12. Superannuation

Employees of the Inspectorate are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Inspectorate contributes  
to defined contribution plans.

Superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits  
in the comprehensive operating statement of the Inspectorate.

The name, details and amounts expensed in relation to the major employee superannuation funds and  
contributions made by the Inspectorate are as follows:

Fund
Paid contribution  

for the year
Contribution outstanding  

at year end

2016
$

2015
$

2016
$

2015
$

VicSuper
Other

 47,740 
 24,879 

 49,180 
 12,899 

 - 
 - 

 - 
 -

Total  72,619  62,079 - -

Note 13. Commitments for expenditure

Apart from operating and finance lease commitments (refer Note 11), there were no commitments for
capital or other expenditure at 30 June 2015 or 30 June 2016.

Note 14. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

There were no contingent assets or contingent liabilities at 30 June 2015 or 30 June 2016.
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Note 15. Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Inspectorate’s financial instruments comprise:
• receivables (excluding statutory receivables);
• payables (excluding statutory payables); and 
• borrowings.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis 
of measurement, and the basis on which expenses and income are recognised, with respect to each class of financial 
asset, financial liability and equity instrument above are disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage the Inspectorate’s financial risks in the 
government policy parameters.

The carrying amounts of the Inspectorate’s contractual financial assets and contractual financial
liabilities by category are set out below:

Categorisation of financial instruments

Note Category
2016

$
2015

$

Contractual financial assets
Receivables 5 Loans and receivables  16,304  -   

Total contractual financial assets  16,304  -  

Contractual financial liabilities
Payables (i)
Borrowings

7
9

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

 54,298 
 38,704 

 159,360 
 22,207 

Total contractual financial liabilities  93,002  181,567 

Note:
(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian
Goverrnment and taxes payable).

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk associated with the Inspectorate’s financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is the Victorian 
Government.  For debtors other than the Government, it is the Inspectorate’s policy to only deal with entities with 
high credit ratings of a minimum triple B rating and to obtain sufficient collateral or credit enhancements, where 
appropriate.

The following table discloses the aging analysis for the Inspectorate’s contractual financial assets:

Past due but not impaired

Carrying 
amount

$

Not past 
due and not 

impaired
$

Less than 1 
month

$

1 to 3 
months

$

3 months 
to 1 year

$

1 to 5 
years

$

2016
Receivables 16,304  16,304  16,304 

16,304 16,304 16,304 - - -

2015
Receivables - - -

- - - - - -

The carrying amount disclosed here excludes statutory amounts
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(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Inspectorate would be unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they 
fall due. The Inspectorate operates under the Government fair payments policy of settling financial obligations 
within 30 days and, in the event of a dispute, make payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.

The Inspectorate’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on the current assessment of risk.

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for the Inspectorate’s contractual financial liabilities.

Maturity analysis of contractual financial liabilities (i)

Maturity Dates

Carrying 
amount

$

Nominal 
amount

$

Less than 
1 month

$

1 to 3 
months

$

Less than 
1 month

$

1 to 3 
months

$

3 months 
to 1 year

$

1 to 5 
years

$

2016
Payables (ii)

Borrowings (ii)
 54,298 
 38,704 

 54,298 
 39,867 

 54,298 
 1,190 

 - 
2,379 

 - 
10,706 

 - 
25,592 

 93,002  94,165  55,488 - -  2,379  10,706  25,592 

2015
Payables (ii)

Borrowings (ii)
 159,360 
 22,207 

 159,360 
 23,001 

 159,360 
 671 

 159,360 
 671 

 - 
 1,341 

 - 
 20,989 

 - 

 181,567  182,361  160,031  -    160,031  1,341  20,989 -

(i) Maturity analysis is presented using the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
(ii) The carrying amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts (e.g. FBT payable).

(d) Market risk

The Inspectorate’s exposure to market risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current 
assessment of risk. Interest rates on the Inspectorate’s borrowings are fixed.

(e) Fair value

The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

• Level 1 – the fair value of financial instruments with standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid 
markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

• Level 2 – the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the financial 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 – the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted 
cash flow analysis using unobservable market inputs.

The Inspectorate considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial 
statements to be a fair approximation of their fair values, because of the short term nature of the financial instruments 
and the expectation that they will be paid in full.
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Note 16. Cash flow information

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

2016
$

2015
$

Total cash and cash equivalents disclosed in the balance sheet (i) - -

Balance as per cash flow statement - -

(i) Due to the State of Victoria’s investment policy and government funding arrangements, government departments 
and agencies generally do not hold a large cash reserve in their bank accounts. Cash received by a department and 
agencies from the generation of revenue is generally paid into the State’s bank account, known as the Public Account. 
Similarly, any departmental or agency expenditure, including those in the form of cheques drawn by the Inspectorate 
for the payment of goods and services to its suppliers and creditors, are made via the Public Account. The process is 
such that the Public Account would remit cash required for the amount drawn on the cheques. This remittance by the 
Public Account occurs upon the presentation of the cheques by the Inspectorate’s suppliers or creditors.

(b) Reconciliation of net result for the period 

2016
$

2015
$

Net result for the period

Non-cash movements
Depreciation of non-current assets

Movements in assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
(Decrease)/increase in payables
(Decrease)/increase in provisions
(Decrease)/increase in unearned lease incentive

 (222,276)

 718,321 

 (392,726)
 (51,447)

 (103,482)
 129,492 
 (63,026)

 (318,982)

 756,567 

 (564,229)
 - 

 132,447 
 (14,678)
 15,756 

Net cash flows from operating activities  14,856  6,881 

Note 17. Responsible persons

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 
1994, the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

Names
The persons who held positions of Ministers and Accountable Officers in the Inspectorate are as follows:

The Hon Gavin Jennings MP Special Minister of State

Robin Brett QC Inspector

The Hon Daniel Andrews MP acted in the office of the Special Minister of State in the absence of the Hon
Gavin Jennings MLC.

Remuneration
Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer in connection with the management of the 
Inspectorate during the reporting period was in the range:
$410,000 to $419,999 ($410,000 to $419,999 in 2014-15)

Amounts relating to Ministers are reported in the financial statements of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.
For information regarding related party transactions of ministers, the register of members’ interests in publicly
available from: www.parliament.vic.gov.au/publications/register-of-interests



VICTORIAN INSPECTORATE  |  2015 – 16 ANNUAL REPORT  |  59

Other transactions
Other related transactions and loans requiring disclosure under the Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance 
have been considered and there are no matters to report.

Note 18. Remuneration of executives

The number of executive officers, other than ministers and the accountable officer, and their total remuneration 
during the reporting period are shown in the first two columns in the table below in their relevant income bands. The 
base remuneration of executive officers is shown in the third and fourth columns. Base remuneration is exclusive of 
bonus payments, long-service leave payments, redundancy payments and retirement benefits. The total annualised 
employee equivalent provides a measure of full-time equivalent executives over the reporting period.

Total remuneration Base remuneration

2016 2015 2016 2015

Income band
$240,000 - $249,999
$210,000 - $219,999
$200,000 - $209,999

1
-
-

-
-
1

-
1
-

-
-
1

Total number of executives 1 1 1 1

Total annualised employee equivalent (i) 1 1 1 1

Total amount ($) 240,382 206,929 218,084 206,929 

(i) Annualised employee equivalent is based on working 38 ordinary hours per week over the reporting period.
Remuneration of executives does not include any statutory appointment.

No contractors held significant management responsibilities in the Inspectorate’s office.

Note 19. Remuneration of auditors

2016
$

2015
$

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office
Audit of the financial statements  15,000  12,100 

 15,000  12,100 

Note 20. Subsequent events

No events that should be reported have occurred after the end of the financial year.
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Note 21. Glossary of terms

Borrowings
Borrowings refers to interest-bearing liabilities, mainly raised through finance leases.

Commitments
Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory sources.

Comprehensive result
The net result of all items of income and expense recognised for the period.  It is the aggregate of operating result 
and other comprehensive income.

Depreciation
Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear or time of a produced physical or 
intangible asset. This expense is classified as a ‘transaction’ and so reduces the ‘net result from transactions’.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is used to calculate the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 

Employee benefits expenses
Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits 
tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments, defined benefits superannuation plans, and defined contribution 
superannuation plans.

Financial asset
A financial asset is any asset that is:
(a) cash;
(b) an equity instrument of another equity;
(c) a contractual or statutory right;
• to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
• to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially 

favourable to the entity; and
(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:
• a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of the entity’s own equity 

instruments; or
• a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial instrument
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. Financial assets or liabilities that are not contractual (such as statutory receivables or 
payables that arise as a result of statutory requirements imposed by governments) are not financial instruments.

Financial liability
A financial liability is any liability that is:
(a) a contractual obligation:
 (i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
 (ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially
  unfavourable to the entity.
(b) A contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:
 (i) a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of the entity’s 
  own equity instruments; or
 (ii) a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
  financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments. For this purpose, the entity’s own
  equity instruments do not include instruments that are themselves contracts for the future receipt or delivery 
  of the entity’s own equity instruments.
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Financial statements
A complete set of financial statements comprises:
(a) a balance sheet as at the end of the period;
(b) a comprehensive operating statement for the period;
(c) a statement of changes in equity for the period;
(d) a cash flow statement for the period;
(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information;
(f) comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in paragraphs 38 of AASB 101 

Presentation of Financial Statements; and
(g) a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity applies an accounting 

policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it 
reclassifies items in its financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 41 of AASB 101.

Grants
Transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another unit 
without receiving approximately equal value in return. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature.

While grants to governments may result in the provision of some goods or services to the transferor, they do not give 
the transferor a claim to receive directly benefits of approximately equal value. For this reason, grants are referred to 
by the AASB as involuntary transfers and are termed non-reciprocal transfers. Receipt and sacrifice of approximately 
equal value may occur, but only by coincidence. For example, governments are not obliged to provide commensurate 
benefits, in the form of goods or services, to particular taxpayers in return for their taxes.

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their 
use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have 
conditions attached regarding their use.

Interest expense
Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds Interest expenses include interest on bank overdrafts 
and short-term and long-term borrowings, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings, interest 
component of finance leases repayments, and the increase in financial liabilities and non-employee provisions due  
to the unwinding of discounts to reflect the passage of time.

Net result
Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result of items of income, 
gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding those that are classified as ‘other economic 
flows – other comprehensive income’.

Net result from transactions/net operating balance
Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is income from transactions minus 
expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and 
losses resulting from changes in price levels and other changes in the volume of assets. It is the component of the 
change in net worth that is due to transactions and can be attributed directly to government policies.

Net worth
Assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth.

Non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’.  It includes land, buildings, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets.

Other economic flows included in net result
Other economic flows included in net result are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not 
result from transactions. It includes:
• gains and losses from disposals, revaluations and impairments of non financial physical and intangible assets; 
• fair value changes of financial instruments and agricultural assets; and 
• depletion of natural assets (non produced) from their use or removal.

Payables
Includes short and long term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes and interest payable.
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Receivables
Includes amounts owing from government through appropriation receivable, short and long term trade credit and 
accounts receivable, accrued investment income, grants, taxes and interest receivable.

Supplies and services
Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running costs, including maintenance 
costs, incurred in the normal operations of the Inspectorate. 

Transactions
Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, usually an 
interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also include flows within an entity such as depreciation 
where the owner is simultaneously acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service 
provided by the asset. Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between the government and taxpayers. 
Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the final 
consideration is cash. In simple terms, transactions arise from the policy decisions of the government.
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Glossary

A&O Parliamentary Committee Accountability and Oversight Parliamentary Committee

Audit Act Audit Act 1994

CMS Complaints Management System

CO Act Crimes (Controlled Operations ) Act 2004

CPO Coercive powers order

DEDJTR The Department of Economic Development, Jobs, Transport and Resources

DELWP The Department of Environment , Land, Water, and Planning

DPC The Department of Premier and Cabinet

EAP Employee Assistance Program

FOI Act Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic)

FTE Full time equivalent

GMA Game Management Authority

IBAC Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission

IBAC Act Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2011

IBAC Parliamentary Committee Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission Parliamentary Committee

ICT Information and Communication Technology

Integrity and Accountability Act Integrity and Accountability Legislation Amendment (A Stronger System) Act 2016

MCIP Act Major Crime (Investigative Powers) Act 2004

OH&S Occupational Health & Safety

Ombudsman Act Ombudsman Act 1973

OPI Office of Police Integrity

OVIC Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner

PD Act Protected Disclosure Act 2012

PIM Public Interest Monitors

PIM Act Public Interest Monitor Act 2011

SD Act Surveillance Devices Act 1999

TIA Act Telecommunications (Interception and Access) Act 1979

TISP Act Telecommunications (Interception) (State Provisions) Act 1988

VAGO Victorian Auditor General’s Office

VI Victorian Inspectorate

VI Act Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011

VIPP Act Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003

VPS Victorian Public Sector
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